

BASEL III - PILLAR 3 DISCLOSURES

31 December 2022

## Basel III – Pillar 3, December 2022

Table of Contents	
Overview of risk management, key prudential metrics and RWA: DIS20 Key metrics (at consolidated group level): KM1	<b>2</b>
Bank risk management approach: OVA Overview of Risk Weighted Assets (RWA): OV1	
Composition of capital and TLAC: DIS25 Main features of regulatory capital instruments: CCA	<b>13</b> 13
Composition of regulatory capital: CC1	15
Reconciliation of regulatory capital to balance sheet: CC2	17
Capital distribution constraints: DIS26 Capital distribution constraints: CDC	
Remuneration: DIS35 Remuneration Policy: REMA	
Remuneration awarded during the financial year: REM1	
Special payments: REM2	23
Deferred remuneration: REM3	
Asset encumbrance: DIS31 Asset encumbrance: ENC	
Credit risk: DIS40 General qualitative information about credit risk: CRA	
Additional disclosure related to the credit quality of assets: CRB	
Qualitative disclosure related to credit risk mitigation techniques: CRC	
Qualitative disclosure on banks' use of external credit ratings under the standardised approach for credit ris	
Credit quality of assets: CR1	
Changes in the stock of defaulted Loans, Debt securities, Due from Banks and Other Assets: CR2	
Credit risk mitigation techniques - overview: CR3	
Standardised approach - credit risk exposure and CRM effects: CR4	
Standardised approach - Exposures by asset classes and risk weights: CR5	
Market risk: DIS50	
General qualitative disclosure requirements related to market risk: MRA	
Market risk under the standardised approach: MR1	
Operational risk: DIS60 General qualitative information on a bank's operational risk framework: ORA	
Interest rate risk in the banking book: DIS70 IRRBB risk management objectives and policies: IRRBBA	
Quantitative information on IRRBB: IRRBB1	45
Leverage ratio: DIS80 Leverage ratio common disclosure: LR2	
Liquidity: DIS85 Liquidity risk management: LIQA	
Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR): LIQ1	
Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR): LIQ2	

## Overview of risk management, key prudential metrics and RWA: DIS20

QAR '	000	Т	T-2	T-4
	Available capital (amounts)	Dec-22	Jun-22	Dec-21
1	Common Equity Tier 1 (CET1)*	75,501,023	68,848,928	70,825,047
1a	Fully loaded ECL accounting model	-	-	-
2	Tier 1	95,568,564	88,922,522	90,903,712
2a	Fully loaded ECL accounting model Tier 1	-	-	-
3	Total capital	101,425,296	94,571,300	96,463,714
3a	Fully loaded ECL accounting model total capital	-	-	-
	Risk-weighted assets (amounts)			
4	Total risk-weighted assets (RWA)	517,113,381	501,472,890	499,381,153
	Risk-based capital ratios as a percentage of RWA			
5	Common Equity Tier 1 ratio (%)	14.6%	13.7%	14.2%
5a	Fully loaded ECL accounting model CET1 (%)	14.6%	13.7%	14.2%
6	Tier 1 ratio (%)	18.5%	17.7%	18.2%
6a	Fully loaded ECL accounting model Tier 1 ratio (%)	18.5%	17.7%	18.2%
7	Total capital ratio (%)	19.6%	18.9%	19.3%
7a	Fully loaded ECL accounting model total capital ratio (%)	19.6%	18.9%	19.3%
	Additional CET1 buffer requirements as a percentage of RW	Α		
8	Capital conservation buffer requirement (2.5% from 2019) (%)	2.5%	2.5%	2.5%
9	Countercyclical buffer requirement (%)		_	_
10	Bank D-SIB additional requirements (%)	2.5%	2.5%	2.5%
11	Total of bank CET1 specific buffer requirements (%) (row 8 + row 9+ row 10)	5.0%	5.0%	5.0%
12	CET1 available after meeting the bank's minimum capital requirements (%)	3.6%	2.7%	3.2%
	Leverage Ratio	L.		
13	Total leverage ratio measure	1,259,123,906	1,176,884,780	1,153,981,137
14	Leverage ratio (%) (row 2/row 13)	7.6%	7.6%	7.9%
14a	Fully loaded ECL accounting model leverage ratio (%) (row 2a/row 13)	-	-	-
14b	Leverage ratio (%) (excluding the impact of any applicable temporary exemption of central bank reserves)	7.6%	7.6%	7.9%
	Liquidity Coverage Ratio			
15	Total HQLA	159,471,322	137,716,343	137,087,831
16	Total net cash outflow	152,824,688	98,795,541	93,424,020
17	LCR ratio (%)	104.3%	139.4%	146.7%
	Net Stable Funding Ratio	1	-	
18	Total available stable funding	652,706,087	733,213,446	768,183,611
19	Total required stable funding	680,575,029	748,759,792	738,031,965
20	NSFR ratio (%)	95.9%	97.9%	104.1%

\*Figures are net of dividend. CET1 in the published financials are reported gross of dividend.

#### Bank risk management approach: OVA

#### Overview

QNB Group faces various financial and non-financial risks in its business and operations, including capital, credit, liquidity, market (trading and banking book), compliance, legal and operational risks. In order to manage these risks, QNB has developed procedures (Risk Policies and Procedures) designed to ensure that appropriate risk governance is exercised at several levels of QNB Group, including the Board of Directors, the Group Executive Committees, the Senior Management team and through various management committees.

QNB Group's Risk Policies and Procedures document the framework for the identification and measurement of a much wider array of risk types as set out above, prescribe appropriate risk limitations, monitor and record the incidence of such risks on an ongoing basis and prescribe appropriate remedial action. QNB Group has established a risk management framework, which is reviewed on an annual basis. At the same time, QNB Group maintains its compliance with Basel III and other regulatory guidelines. A comprehensive, centralised and proactive risk management approach is exercised at all levels of QNB Group.

#### **Risk Management Framework**

Risk is inherent in QNB Group's activities, but it is managed through a process of established mechanisms that identify, assess, monitor and control those risks. The success of QNB Group's risk management framework is focused largely on encouraging pre-determined roles and responsibilities from the Board of Directors and Group Board Risk Committee (GBRC) level, down to the various executive managers, senior managers and individual employees. This process of risk management is critical to QNB Group's continuing profitability and sustainability, and each individual within the QNB Group is accountable for the risk exposures relating to his or her responsibilities in accordance with the "three lines of defense" principle. QNB uses a risk adjusted return on capital (RAROC) methodology (based on the Basel foundation's internal rating-based approach) alongside Moody's risk rating and portfolio management systems to assess corporate credits, as well as risk-based decision-making processes to drive allocation, utilisation and management of capital resources. These tools and techniques provide the Risk Committee and the Board of Directors with the ability to control risk appetite, capital allocations and the active monitoring of strategic targets.

QNB uses a leading asset-liability management and liquidity management solution to help optimise the management of the balance sheet and ensure that risk monitoring and controls are of the highest standards.

Operational risk management has been enhanced with further implementation of data security systems, continuous training and awareness, improved business continuity infrastructure and disaster recovery sites. The same risk governance impetus is scheduled to continue in line with the continued implementation of QNB Group's business strategy.

QNB Group strategic risk management function has group-wide responsibility for portfolio management, enterprise risk standards, asset/liability risk management, liquidity and market risk management, risk systems, projects, Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP) and regulatory relationships. Enterprise risk management standards are established in order to direct the overall internal control and governance activities, including risk model validations, and the establishment of relevant group policies in relation to principle risks and overall group risk classification.

#### **Risk Measurement Systems**

Risk is inherent in QNB's activities and managed through a process to identify, assess, control, report and manage those risks. QNB adopts a centralized approach which is complimented by local expertise to ensure proactive risk management at a consolidated and local level. The Bank employs three lines of defense approach to risk management, supported by risk governance and enabled by a risk-minded culture. As a key part of Pillar I risks, QNB manages its credit risk as per established credit risk policies, internal credit ratings, regular obligor credit reviews and active monitoring at a credit portfolio level. Diversification of credit risk is managed with concentration limits at the individual, industry, geography and product level. Other

#### Basel III – Pillar 3, December 2022

credit risk mitigation occurs through the use of collateral, guarantees, credit structures and appropriate credit documentation. The Bank manages its market risk exposures in line with market risk policies. Key traded risk mitigation occurs through a detailed framework of risk limits across open positions, Value at Risk (VaR), sensitivities and stop-loss limits. Daily reporting on mark-to-market profit and loss is performed in addition to periodic stress testing. QNB seeks to minimize actual or potential losses from operational risk failure in accordance with policies and procedures. Controls include, but are not limited to, segregation of duties, system controls, authorization and reconciliation procedures, staff education and assessment processes. Other tools employed include Risk Control Self-Assessment (RCSA), key risk indicators and a system to log all incidents and track ongoing risk mitigating actions. The Bank complies with the Qatar Central Bank (QCB) approach for assessment of Risk Weighted Assets (RWA) for Credit, Market and Operational Risk and Capital requirements. QNB maintains adequate capital levels as per its risk appetite statement. QNB considers Credit Concentration risk, Interest Rate Risk in the Banking Book (IRRBB) and Strategic risk in its Pillar II framework. The Bank manages credit concentration risk through diversification of lending activities and compliance with defined risk appetite limits. QNB's exposure to IRRBB is managed through hedging, monitoring of the re-pricing of assets and liabilities in addition to periodic stress testing. Funding liquidity risk is managed in line with established policies, cash flow planning, detailed limit framework and regular monitoring. Other material risks including compliance, regulatory and legal risk, and reputational risk are managed through comprehensive policies & procedures and well-established processes for assessment, monitoring and mitigation of these risks.

#### **Board and Management Committees for Risk Management**

An overview of QNB Group's Risk Management Committee structure is set out below. The committees are further organised into committees at the Board of Directors level and at the management level.

#### **Board of Directors**

The Board of Directors of QNB heads QNB Group's governance structure. The Group Board Risk Committee evaluates and oversees QNB Group's risk profile in coordination with the Group Chief Executive Officer, the Group Management Risk Committee (GMRC) and the Group Credit Committee. The Board of Directors, in its entirety, takes responsibility for all aspects of QNB Group's risk management, including the management of credit, market and operational risks.

The Board of Directors has set forth the policy objectives and framework for the QNB Group on all riskrelated issues and the executive management committees maintain the day-to-day oversight of all risks. These committees are responsible for formulating QNB Group's risk management policies, in line with the overall guideline and objectives set by the Board of Directors. The Group Risk Division, headed by Group Chief Risk Officer, carries out the implementation of such policies.



## **Board Committees**

#### Group Board Audit and Compliance Committee (GBACC)

The Group Board Audit and Compliance Committee (GBACC) sets QNB Group's policy on all audit and compliance issues and maintains an oversight of both external and internal audit processes. The committee consists of three elected board members. The Group Chief Audit Executive (GCAE) and Group Chief Compliance Officer report to the GBACC and are therefore required to be present at the GBACC meetings. In addition to these members, certain other members of the executive management may also participate in committee meetings when required, including the Group Chief Executive Officer, Group Chief Financial Officer, Group Chief Risk Officer and external auditors of QNB.

The GBACC carries out responsibilities relating to financial statements, internal controls, internal and external audits and compliance matters. These responsibilities include reviewing significant accounting and reporting issues (including complex or unusual transactions) in light of regulatory directives and professional pronouncements and conducting an analysis of the impact on the QNB Group financials. The committee

also directly oversees audit compliance of the QNB Group. The committee reviews QNB Group annual report, notes thereto, related regulatory filings, and considers the accuracy and completeness of the information prior to release.

QNB Group risk management processes are audited by the internal audit function, which examines the adequacy of, and QNB Group compliance with, the procedures. The internal audit team discusses the results of all assessments with management and reports its findings and recommendations to the GBACC.

#### Group Board Risk Committee (GBRC)

Group Board Risk Committee is the highest management authority in the QNB Group for various risk-related issues. The GBRC, among other matters:

- Reviews and endorses for Board approval the risk management strategy of QNB Group as well as risk appetite and portfolio strategies recommended by the Group Management Risk Committee (GMRC), and reviews any changes that arise in the QNB Group's risk strategy and/or risk appetite;
- Reviews and compares the QNB Group portfolio risk profile with the approved risk appetite and endorses GMRC-recommended portfolio strategies for approval by the Board of Directors;
- Approves risk frameworks and QNB Group risk policies and control structures in accordance with the approved strategy by the Board of Directors and oversees implementation of policies pertaining to QNB internal control system;
- Ensures the effectiveness of the risk control framework and oversees the GMRC's evaluation outcomes;
- Approves and oversees stress testing scenarios and results, as well as management action plans;
- Approves the QNB Group's capital management framework and any further enhancement proposed by the GMRC;
- Oversees the monitoring process performed by the GMRC and controls the risk management framework and the defined related roles and responsibilities across the QNB Group;
- Evaluates the monitoring process carried out by the GMRC in respect of QNB Group entities in the identification of operational, credit, market, strategic, legal and reputational risks, and the action plans implemented to monitor and manage these risks;
- Approves the Contingency Funding Planning document;
- Ensures that no material impact and/or risk identified by GMRC relates to anti-money laundering and/or terrorist financing; and also ensures the satisfaction of 'know your customer' requirements; and
- Reviews any breaches of risk limits or internal control failures (if any) and reviews investigation results performed by the GMRC.

#### Group Board Nomination, Remuneration, Governance and Policies Committee (GBNRGPC)

The GBNRGPC consists of three Board members, the majority of whom are non-executive and independent members. The committee is primarily responsible for;

- Identifying and assessing eligible and qualified candidates for Board and executive management positions according to the "fit-and-proper" criteria set by the committee, in addition to requirements for independent and non-executive directors;
- Monitoring the induction, training and continuous professional development of the QNB Group's directors with regard to corporate governance matters;
- Approving and reviewing QNB Group's remuneration and incentives guidelines and ensuring that the remuneration of the Board and executive management is in line with the criteria and limits set forth by the QCB and the Commercial Companies Law; and
- Directing and overseeing the preparation and update of QNB Group's corporate governance manual, in collaboration with executive management and the GBACC.

#### Basel III – Pillar 3, December 2022

#### Group Board Executive Committee (GBEC)

The Group Board Executive Committee is composed of three Board members and one of the Board members is selected by the Board of Directors as Chairman. The Group Chief Executive Officer attends all meetings, without voting powers. The committee is primarily responsible for;

- Reviewing and endorsing for Board approval QNB Group's long-term strategy, annual business plans and budgets, based on economic and market conditions and Board directives;
- Reviewing and approving credit proposals as per QNB Group's approved authority matrix;
- Reviewing and approving QNB Group's corporate social responsibility strategy, in light of brand values across the QNB Group;
- Reviewing and consolidating QNB Group's marketing, communications and resource distribution plans to support business development and growth; and
- Reviewing and recommending action to be taken in respect of impaired loans, in line with delegated limits and authorities as approved by the Board and in line with QCB regulations.

#### **Governance Structure**



#### Management Committees

#### Group Management Risk Committee (GMRC)

The GMRC establishes, reviews, and recommends QNB Group's risk management strategy and defines risk policies. It reviews the processes and control framework for the management of risks and defines related roles and responsibilities across the QNB Group. The GMRC also reviews the QNB Group portfolio risk profile, recommends portfolio risk management strategies to the GBRC for endorsement in order to obtain approval from the Board of Directors, reviews the effectiveness of the operation of the risk control framework and submits to the Group Board Risk Committee the annual evaluation for approval by the Board of Directors. The GMRC monitors risk management activities from several perspectives: enterprise-wide, operational, credit portfolio, liquidity, market, strategic, legal and reputational.

The review of the GMRC's policies and supervision of its activities falls under the responsibilities of the Board of Directors. The GMRC reviews compliance with policies and procedures, audit recommendations and regulatory requirements, including combating Money Laundering and Counter Terrorist Financing requirements. The GMRC implements and manages the Crisis Management Plan and framework and provides strategic directions during a crisis, including the management of external communications with media, regulatory authorities, emergency services and government agencies. The GMRC also provides the Group Risk Report and regularly reports to the GBRC.

#### Group Asset and Liability Committee (GALCO)

The GALCO has authority delegated by the Board of Directors for developing policies related to all asset and liability management matters, including balance sheet structure, funding, pricing, hedging and investment limits. Under the overall risk management framework, the Group ALCO is a key component of risk management within the QNB Group. The Group ALCO, among other matters:

- Reviews and recommends strategy, policies and procedures relating to asset and liability management across the QNB Group to the Executive Committee and the Board of Directors.
- Monitors and reviews the performance of all treasury activities across the QNB Group including the grouping and trading book portfolios in terms of profitability, credit performance, other risks, volatility and volumes.
- Monitors and reviews the management of interest rate risk across the QNB Group, particularly the interest rate gap reports, projected net interest income reports and current hedging strategy.
- Monitors and reviews the management of liquidity and foreign exchange risks across the QNB Group.
- Oversees the inter-group transfer pricing policy for cost of funds allocation within the management information system.
- Establishes and amends the base rates applicable to each entity in the QNB Group and related changes in deposits and risk asset interest rate structures.
- Monitors monthly financial performance and budget targets.

The Group Chief Executive Officer serves as the Chairman of the Group ALCO and the Group Chief Financial Officer serves as the Vice-Chairman.

#### Group Cyber Security Committee (GCSC)

This committee is mandated with responsibility to monitor, amend and implement the QNB Group's cyber security strategy in line with the expectations of the Board.

The committee monitors the implementation of the IT Security and Cyber Security governance framework, including strategy, plans, policies, controls, capabilities, skills, roles, and responsibilities across the QNB Group. GCSC has oversight over QNB's IT security programme and is comprised of responsible parties from various functions and levels within the QNB Group.

#### Group Financial Recovery Management Committee (GFRMC)

The Group Financial Recovery Management Committee is the formalization of the crisis governance structure in relation to the Board-approved Group Recovery Plan. The structure will come into effect upon activation of predefined capital and liquidity triggers or any escalation arising from individual financial crisis plans (i.e. Contingency Funding Plan (CFP) and/or Capital Contingency Plan (ICAAP)). The committee consists of four key executive members who will call on relevant management who may be closely involved in the execution of options. The GCRO/GCFO can call an immediate meeting of the GFRMC upon verification of the breach of recovery trigger(s). The meeting can also be called due to an "expert call" by one or more of the members of the GFRMC.

The GFRMC is specifically authorized to:

- Select which recovery options should be deployed in the emerging crisis with direct access to Group Board to approved execution the selected option(s)
- Oversee, monitor and manage the implementation of crisis actions and accordingly report to the Group Board
- Initiate the related communications to media, regulatory authorities, government agencies, investors
- Decide whether to stand down on crisis actions (with agreement of authorities)

The GFRMC streamlines the regular procedures for information sharing with the Board of Directors to ensure that there is timely information sharing with Board of Directors, and relevant management teams with regard to the potential recovery measures and other mitigating plans during activation of the respective plans.

#### Group Operational Risk Management Committee (GORMC)

The Group Operational Risk Management Committee (Risk Management Committee) is charged with the responsibility of establishing, maintaining and reviewing procedures at a management and operational level to identify, monitor, review and mitigate operational risk in accordance with the QNB Group's risk oversight and management policies.

The Risk Management Committee is a proactive strategic committee and does not replace executive management responsibility and accountability for the day-to-day management of operational risk and the enactment of business continuity processes in the event of an incident.

The Risk Management Committee, covering both domestic and international branches shall, among other core risk management activities:

- Develop and review a Group-wide methodology for the assessment of 'Material Operational Risks' by measuring the impact of risks, likelihood and corrective action plans across each individual business, function and international branch;
- Review and report on non-compliance with operational risk policy and procedures;
- Review and monitor all operational risk events across the group; and
- Review the annual 'Risk Control Self-Assessment' plan, ongoing execution and any outstanding tasks.

#### Management Sub-Committees

#### Risk Model Validation and Usage Committee (RMAUC)

Serving as technical advisers, and under the delegation of the GMRC for the review and approval of risk models, the responsibilities of the RMAUC in relation to model validation and governance activities cover several perspectives in relation to the approval of all existing models in use, newly proposed model development or refinement/redevelopment requirements that include:

• Assessing evaluation reports submitted by independent model validation units, whether internal or external, to the Bank;

- Review of recommendations whilst performing an assessment of severity, performed by model validation units in their evaluation of the technical soundness of models and its application in business/risk processes; and
- Regular reporting to the GMRC on the status of model inventory and of approved models.

#### **Risk Appetite**

Risk appetite is the aggregate amount of risk that the QNB Group is willing to accept in pursuit of its mission, vision, business objectives and strategic goals that is commensurate with its risk capacity as well as its culture, desired level of risk, risk management capability and business strategy. The QNB Group's risk appetite statement serves to articulate the risk culture, boundaries and governance of the QNB Group and provides a framework for the QNB Group's attitudes towards risk-taking. QNB's risk appetite is reviewed, reassessed and agreed alongside QNB's strategy, business and financial planning and budgeting processes. QNB also employs a Country Risk Management Framework which aims to distribute global capital capacity in an optimal manner across countries and regions. Country risk limits establish the absolute level of risk appetite at individual country level, as annually approved by the Board.

The Board of Directors expresses its preferred risk appetite through a set of metrics, key among them being RAROC. Apart from its use for competitive risk-based pricing, RAROC is used for communicating and cascading risk appetite as a performance metric throughout QNB. Regular risk appetite assessments comparing the QNB Group's risk profile with defined risk appetite is presented to the GMRC. Regular updates, prompt review and discussion of risk-taking activity in the pursuit of business strategy.

#### Stress Testing

Following the principles set out in the Basel III Accord by the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision, QNB has in place an advanced framework for stress testing, which is wholly integrated with QNB's decisionmaking process based on the Basel III principles. The key components of the QNB stress testing framework emphasise the use of stress testing and integration within QNB's risk governance, the methodologies being applied at each level of testing, the scenarios being used at each level of testing and stress testing of specific risks and products of QNB.

Various levels of stress testing and scenario analysis is performed to inform a holistic assessment of risk, probe loss potential, augment risk identification and monitoring. These include:

- i. Top-down stress testing which informs strategic decisions, for example capital adequacy, and aids articulation and challenge of enterprise-level risk appetite and Strategic Risk Objectives; and
- ii. Bottom-up stress testing which informs tactical risk-specific actions, by way of portfolio monitoring, risk profitability measurement and reviewing appetite thresholds for enhanced internal controls. QNB's suite of scenarios covers various historical, forward-looking, sensitivity stresses and what-if scenarios. Stress testing and scenario analysis can be performed at various levels of granularity. Organization scope includes:
  - Group Consolidated: scenarios developed and executed at Group level covering positions across the Group including overseas branches, subsidiaries (local and international) and all business units.
  - QNB Doha: scenarios developed and executed at the Doha level (excluding international branches)
  - QNB Solo: scenarios developed and executed at the QNB solo level (including international branches)
  - International subsidiaries: scenarios developed and executed at the subsidiary level specifically
  - Overseas branches: scenarios developed and executed at the branch level specifically
  - Business units: scenarios developed and executed at the business unit level specifically

#### Basel III – Pillar 3, December 2022

Stress testing and scenario analysis are key tools in day-to-day risk management. They provide useful insight into the specific vulnerabilities and risk characteristics of a particular portfolio or business unit. In addition, stress testing is a core aspect of the risk appetite calibration process linking bottom-up business plans and top-down Board appetite and capacity. Various emerging risks in the short-term could pose a threat to strategic goals. Group-wide stress tests and scenario analysis probe the loss potential of plausible downturn scenarios. The impact on the credit outlook and market risk factors are calibrated and the potential volatility in QNB's earnings and capital adequacy are quantified. In addition to quantifying loss potential, outcomes from stress tests facilitate management actions and discussions with branch and subsidiary CROs (e.g. reduce risk appetite, introduce operating level limits etc.). In addition, scenarios and stress testing are also used to assess the capital and liquidity adequacy of the Bank (including subsidiaries and branches) as required by local regulators, and for internal risk management purposes. Scenario analysis is essential in strategic and financial planning purposes.

In accordance with IFRS 9 guidelines for determining applicable credit impairment losses, the methodology incorporates forward-looking indicators in both the assessment of whether the credit risk of an instrument has increased significantly since its initial recognition and the measurement of expected credit loss (ECL). The Bank formulates a 'base case' view of the future direction of relevant economic variables as well as a representative range of other possible forecast scenarios. This process involves developing additional economic scenarios and considering the relative probabilities of each outcome. External information includes economic data and forecasts published by governmental bodies and monetary authorities in the countries where the Bank operates, supranational organisations such as the Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) and the International Monetary Fund (IMF), and selected private-sector and academic forecasters.

QNB's stress tests take into account a range of scenarios across QNB's business and its written policies and procedures for the stress tests are sufficiently granular for the purposes of Basel III. The stress-testing framework at QNB covers all of the risks under Pillars I and II of Basel III, with special emphasis on risk materiality. Reverse stress testing is already being utilised within QNB to identify and to update QNB's risk profile and risk strategy. On a monthly basis, the mitigation framework is reviewed by the risk team and considered for further improvement. The Bank has also developed a recovery plan in line with industry best practice and regulatory requirements.

#### **Credit Risk Mitigation**

The Group has set up a framework for credit risk mitigation as a means towards reducing credit risk in an exposure, at facility level, by a safety net of tangible and realizable securities including approved third-party guarantees and/or insurance. Examples of the types of Credit Risk Mitigation (CRM) include netting agreements, collateral and security, guarantees and other non-contractual support. The Group ensures that all documentation is binding on all parties and is legally enforceable in all relevant jurisdictions. The Group also ensures that all the documents are reviewed by appropriate authority and have appropriate legal opinions to verify and ensure its enforceability. QNB has historically implemented a conservative credit policy. QNB believes that its conservative approach to lending ensures that there is an adequate spread of the risk through a diverse product range and customer base (by geography, industry and obligor type). QNB also believes that its conservative credit policy promotes the application of effective credit risk limits in its business, while providing adequate returns on the risk that is on par with the management's expectations. The Bank's effective monitoring of its risk, together with a conservative internal risk rating system and a timely recovery strategy, further augments QNB's approach to risk mitigation.

## Overview of Risk Weighted Assets (RWA): OV1

				Minimum capital		Minimum capital
	QAR '000		VA	requirements	RWA	requirements
		Dec-22	Jun-22	Dec-22	Dec-21	Dec-21
1	Credit risk (excluding counterparty credit risk)	462,311,477	445,141,436	73,969,836	446,010,514	71,361,682
2	Of which: standardised approach (SA)	462,311,477	445,141,436	73,969,836	446,010,514	71,361,682
3	Of which: foundation internal ratings-based (F-IRB) approach	-	-	-	-	-
4	Of which: supervisory slotting approach	-	-	-	-	-
5	Of which: advanced internal ratings-based (A-IRB) approach	-	-	-	-	-
6	Counterparty credit risk (CCR)	-	-	-	-	-
7	Of which: standardised approach for counterparty credit risk	-	-	-	-	-
8	Of which: IMM	-	-	-	-	-
9	Of which: other CCR	-	-	-	-	-
10	Credit valuation adjustment (CVA)	-	-	-	-	-
11	Equity positions under the simple risk weight approach and the internal model method during the five-year linear phase-in period	-	-	-	-	-
12	Equity investments in funds – look-through approach	-	-	-	-	-
13	Equity investments in funds – mandate-based approach	-	-	-	-	-
14	Equity investments in funds – fall-back approach	-	-	-	-	-
15	Settlement risk	-	-	-	-	-
16	Securitisation exposures in banking book	-	-	-	-	-
17	Of which: securitisation IRB approach	-	-	-	-	-
17	(SEC-IRBA)	-	-	-	-	-
18	Of which: securitisation external ratings-based approach	-	-	-	-	-
18	(SEC-ERBA), including internal assessment approach (IAA)	-	-	-	-	-
19	Of which: securitisation standardised approach (SEC-SA)	-	-	-	-	-
20	Market risk	8,127,525	9,657,074	1,300,404	8,827,758	1,412,441
21	Of which: standardised approach (SA)	8,127,525	9,657,074	1,300,404	8,827,758	1,412,441
22	Of which: internal model approach (IMA)	-	-	-		
23	Capital charge for switch between trading book and banking book	-		-	-	-
24	Operational risk	46,674,379	46,674,379	7,467,901	44,542,881	7,126,861
25	Amounts below the thresholds for deduction (subject to 250% risk weight)	-	-	-	-	-
26	Output floor applied	-	-	-	-	-
27	Floor adjustment (before application of transitional cap)	-	-	-	-	-
28	Floor adjustment (after application of transitional cap)	-	-	-	-	-
29	Total (1 + 6 + 10 + 11 + 12 + 13 + 14 + 15 + 16 + 20 + 23 + 24 + 25 + 28)	517,113,381	501,472,890	82,738,141	499,381,153	79,900,984

## Composition of capital and TLAC: DIS25

## Main features of regulatory capital instruments: CCA

		Quantitative/Qualitative information	Quantitative/Qualitative information
1	Issuer	Qatar National Bank (Q.P.S.C.)	Qatar National Bank (Q.P.S.C.)
2	Unique identifier (eg CUSIP, ISIN or	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	
	Bloomberg	Private placement 1	Private placement 2
	identifier for private placement)		
3	Governing law(s) of the instrument	State of Qatar	State of Qatar
	Regulatory treatment	-	-
4	Transitional arrangement rules (i.e. grandfathering)	-	-
5	Post-transitional arrangement rules (i.e. grandfathering)	-	-
6	Eligible at solo/group/group and solo	-	-
7	Instrument type (types to be specified by each jurisdiction)	Perpetual Bond (AT1 Note)	Perpetual Bond (AT1 Note)
8	Amount recognised in regulatory capital	QAR 10 billion	QAR 10 billion
9	Nominal amount of instrument	QAR 50 million	QAR 50 million
9a	Issue price	-	-
9b	Redemption price	-	-
10	Accounting classification	Equity	Equity
11	Original date of issuance	Jun-16	Dec-18
12	Perpetual or dated	Perpetual	Perpetual
13	Original maturity date	N/A	Ň/A
14	Issuer call subject to prior supervisory approval	Yes	Yes
15	Optional call date, contingent call dates and redemption amount	Callable every 6 years	Callable every 6 years
16	Subsequent call dates, if applicable	N/A	N/A
	Coupons / dividends	-	-
17	Fixed or floating dividend/coupon	Fixed	Fixed
19	Coupon rate and any related index	6.0%	5.5%
19	Existence of a dividend stopper	Yes	Yes
20a	Fully disrectionary, partially disrectionary or mandatory (in terms of timing)	Fully discretionary	Fully discretionary
20b	Fully disrectionary, partially disrectionary or mandatory (in terms of amount)	-	-
21	Existence of step-up or other incentive to redeem	N/A	N/A
22	Non-cumulative or cumulative	Non-cumulative	Non-cumulative
23	Convertible or non-convertible	Non-convertible	Non-convertible
24	Write-down feature	Yes	Yes
25	If write-down, write-down trigger(s)	Point of Non Viability (PONV)	Point of Non Viability (PONV)
26	If write-down, full or partial	Full	Full
27	If write-down, permanent or		
	temporary	Permanent	Permanent

## Basel III – Pillar 3, December 2022

		Quantitative/Qualitative information	Quantitative/Qualitative information
28	If temporary write-own, description of write-up mechanism	N/A	N/A
28a	Type of subordination	Statutory, Contractual	Statutory, Contractual
29	Position in subordination hierarchy in liquidation (specify instrument type immediately senior to instrument in the insolvency creditor hierarchy of the legal entity concerned).	Rank junior to all Senior Obligations of QNB; rank pari passu with all Pari Passu Obligations of QNB; and rank senior to all Junior Obligations of QNB	Rank junior to all Senior Obligations of QNB; rank pari passu with all Pari Passu Obligations of QNB; and rank senior to all Junior Obligations of QNB.
30	Non-compliant transitioned features	N/A	N/A
31	If yes, specify non-compliant features	N/A	N/A

## Composition of regulatory capital: CC1

	QAR '000		
	Common Equity Tier 1 capital: instruments and reserves	Dec-22	Dec-21
1	Directly issued qualifying common share (and equivalent for non-joint stock companies) capital plus related stock surplus	9,236,429	9,236,429
2	Retained earnings		54,037,772
3	Accumulated other comprehensive income (and other reserves)	10,001,610	10,588,916
4	Directly issued capital subject to phase-out from CET1 (only applicable to non-joint stock companies)		-
5	Common share capital issued by third parties (amount allowed in group CET1)	393,500	447,449
6	Common Equity Tier 1 capital before regulatory deductions	79,938,468	74,310,566
	Common Equity Tier 1 capital regulatory adjustments	-	-
7	Prudent valuation adjustments	-	-
8	Goodwill (net of related tax liability)	3,178,417	3,886,786
9	Other intangibles other than mortgage servicing rights (net of related tax liability)	-	-
10	Deferred tax assets that rely on future profitability, excluding those arising from temporary differences (net of related tax liability)	391,474	388,603
11	Cash flow hedge reserve	547,446	(1,139,420)
12	Securitisation gain on sale	-	-
13	Gains and losses due to changes in own credit risk on fair valued liabilities	-	-
14	Defined benefit pension fund net assets	-	-
15	Investments in own shares (if not already subtracted from paid-in capital on reported balance sheet)		-
16	Reciprocal cross-holdings in common equity		-
17	Investments in the capital of banking, financial and insurance entities that are outside the scope of regulatory consolidation, where the bank does not own more than 10% of the issued share capital (amount above 10% threshold)	-	-
18	Significant investments in the common stock of banking, financial and insurance entities that are outside the scope of regulatory consolidation (amount above 10% threshold)	320,109	349,549
19	Deferred tax assets arising from temporary differences (amount above 10% threshold, net of related tax liability)	-	-
20	Amount exceeding 15% threshold	-	-
21	Of which: significant investments in the common stock of financials	-	-
22	Of which: deferred tax assets arising from temporary differences	-	-
23	QCB specific regulatory adjustments	-	-
24	Total regulatory adjustments to Common Equity Tier 1	4,437,446	3,485,518
25	Common Equity Tier 1 capital (CET1)	75,501,022	70,825,048
	Additional Tier 1 capital: instruments	-	-
26	Directly issued qualifying Additional Tier 1 instruments plus related stock surplus	20,000,000	20,000,000
27	Of which: classified as equity under applicable accounting standards	20,000,000	20,000,000
28	Of which: classified as liabilities under applicable accounting standards	-	-
29	Directly issued capital instruments subject to phase-out from additional Tier 1	-	-
30	Additional Tier 1 instruments (and CET1 instruments not included in row 5) issued by subsidiaries and held by third parties (amount allowed in AT1)	67,542	78,664
31	Of which: instruments issued by subsidiaries subject to phase-out	-	-
32	Additional Tier 1 capital before regulatory adjustments	20,067,542	20,078,664
	Additional Tier 1 capital: regulatory adjustments		

	QAR '000		
	Common Equity Tier 1 capital: instruments and reserves	Dec-22	Dec-21
33	Investments in own additional Tier 1 instruments	-	-
34	Investments in capital of banking, financial and insurance entities that are outside the scope of regulatory consolidation	-	-
35	Significant investments in the common stock of banking, financial and insurance entities that are outside the scope of regulatory consolidation	-	-
36	QCB specific regulatory adjustments	-	-
37	Total regulatory adjustments to additional Tier 1 capital	-	-
38	Additional Tier 1 capital (AT1)	20,067,542	20,078,664
39	Tier 1 capital (T1= CET1 + AT1)	95,568,564	90,903,712
	Tier 2 capital: instruments and provisions	-	-
40	Directly issued qualifying Tier 2 instruments plus related stock surplus	-	-
41	Directly issued capital instruments subject to phase-out from Tier 2	-	-
42	Tier 2 instruments (and CET1 and AT1 instruments not included in rows 5 or 34) issued by subsidiaries and held by third parties (amount allowed in group Tier 2)	77,838	90,093
43	Of which: instruments issued by subsidiaries subject to phase-out	-	-
44	Provisions	5,778,893	5,469,910
45	Tier 2 capital before regulatory adjustments	5,856,732	5,560,003
46	Tier 2 capital: regulatory adjustments	-	-
47	Investments in own Tier 2 instruments	-	-
48	Investments in capital, financial and insurance entities that are outside the scope of regulatory consolidation, where the bank does not own more than 10% of the issued common share capital of the entity (amount above 10% threshold)	-	-
49	Significant investments in the capital and other TLAC liabilities of banking, financial and insurance entities that are outside the scope of regulatory consolidation (net of eligible short positions)	-	-
50	QCB specific regulatory adjustments	-	-
51	Total regulatory adjustments to Tier 2 capital	-	-
52	Tier 2 capital (T2)	5,856,732	5,560,003
53	Total regulatory capital (TC = T1 + T2)	101,425,296	96,463,714
54	Total risk-weighted assets	517,113,381	499,381,153
55	Capital ratios and buffers	-	-
56	Common Equity Tier 1 (as a percentage of risk-weighted assets)	14.6%	14.2%
57	Tier 1 (as a percentage of risk-weighted assets)	18.5%	18.2%
58	Total capital (as a percentage of risk-weighted assets)	19.6%	19.3%
59	Institution specific buffer requirement (capital conservation buffer plus countercyclical buffer requirements plus higher loss absorbency requirement, expressed as a percentage of risk-weighted assets)	5.0%	5.0%
60	Of which: capital conservation buffer requirement	2.5%	2.5%
61	Of which: bank-specific countercyclical buffer requirement	-	-
62	Of which: higher loss absorbency requirement (e.g. DSIB)	2.5%	2.5%
63	Common Equity Tier 1 (as a percentage of risk-weighted assets) available after meeting the bank's minimum capital requirement.	3.6%	3.2%
64	The QCB Minimum Capital Requirement	-	-
65	Common Equity Tier 1 minimum ratio	11.0%	11.0%
66	Tier 1 minimum ratio	13.0%	13.0%
67	Total capital minimum ratio	16.0%	16.0%

QAR'000	Balance sheet as in published financial statements	Under regulatory scope of consolidation	Reference to Financial Statements
	As at Dec-22	As at Dec-22	Statements
Assets			
Cash and balances with the Central Bank	91,563,936	91,565,685	8
Due from banks and financial institutions	96,259,687	95,005,809	9
Investments Securities	159,913,041	155,811,589	11
Investments in associates and joint ventures	7,902,221	7,902,221	12
Receivables and other assets	807,601,336	832,293,310	10
Property and equipment	6,941,495	6,941,495	13
Intangible Assets	3,178,417	3,178,417	14
Other Assets	15,858,879	15,858,879	15
Total assets	1,189,219,012	1,208,557,405	
Liabilities			
Customer's deposits	842,278,655	837,651,739	17
Due to banks and financial institutions	142,814,699	140,103,618	16
Debt Securities	35,152,720	34,636,122	18
Other Borrowings	25,593,253	25,593,253	19
Other Liabilities	37,322,900	64,515,888	20
Total liabilities	1,083,162,227	1,102,500,620	
Shareholders' equity			
Share capital	9,236,429	9,236,429	22
Legal Reserve	25,326,037	25,326,037	22
Risk Reserve	11,000,000	11,000,000	22
Fair Value Reserve	890,129	890,129	22
Foreign Currency Translation Reserve	(26,833,105)	(26,833,105)	22
Other Reserves	(381,451)	(381,451)	22
Retained earnings	65,848,784	65,848,784	22
Non-controlling interests	969,962	969,962	23
Instruments Eligible for Additional Tier I Capital	20,000,000	20,000,000	24
Total shareholders' equity	106,056,785	106,056,785	

Notes: The difference between the published Balance Sheet and Regulatory scope of consolidation mainly relates to reporting of ECL/Provisions under Other Liabilities for regulatory purposes.

## Capital distribution constraints: DIS26

## Capital distribution constraints: CDC

			а	b
			CET1 capital ratio that would trigger capital distribution constraints (%)	Current CET1 capital ratio (%)
1	CET1 minimum requirement plus account CET1 capital used to me capital/ TLAC ratios)		8.5%	14.6%
2	CET1 capital plus capital buffers capital used to meet other minim ratios)	(taking into account CET1 um regulatory capital/ TLAC	11.0%	14.6%

		Minimum Leverage ratio requirement	Current Leverage Ratio %
3	Leverage ratio	3.0%	7.6%

#### **Remuneration: DIS35**

#### Remuneration Policy: REMA

#### Purpose

The remuneration system within QNB Group forms a key component of the governance and incentive structure through which the Board and Executive Management promote good performance, convey acceptable risk-taking behaviour and reinforce the Bank's operating and risk culture.

This policy is aligned with the best practices, in particular, the guidelines and requirements of Commercial Companies Law - Financial Stability Board, Basel Committee for Banking Supervision, QCB and any other relevant regulatory requirements.

#### Scope

This policy is applicable to but not limited to the Chairman, Board members, Senior Executive Management and Employees of QNB Group.

#### Governance

In order to ensure effective governance of remunerations and compensation within QNB Group the following will be considered:

- The Board of Directors ("BOD") is fully responsible to enhance corporate governance and sound practices of granting financial bonus and incentives at the Group level.
- The BOD through the GBNRGPC will actively oversee the remuneration system's design and operation and ensure that it operates with adequate controls as intended.
- The BOD will ensure the existence of a system and communication channels among employees and senior officers to take notice and action on any complaints raised in this regard and to address any such genuine grievances.
- Employees engaged in control functions (Internal Audit, Risk, Compliance, Financial Control) must be independent and compensated in a manner that is independent of the business areas they oversee.
- The GBNRGPC consists of three Board members, the majority of whom are non-executive and independent members.

The committee is primarily responsible for:

- Identifying and assessing eligible and qualified candidates for Board and executive management positions according to the "fit-and-proper" criteria set by the committee, in addition to requirements for independent and non-executive directors;
- Monitoring the induction, training and continuous professional development of the QNB Group's directors with regard to corporate governance matters;
- Approving and reviewing QNB Group's remuneration and incentives guidelines and ensuring that the remuneration of the Board and executive management is in line with the criteria and limits set forth by the QCB and the Commercial Companies Law; and
- Directing and overseeing the preparation and update of QNB Group's corporate governance manual, in collaboration with executive management and the GBACC.

#### Effective Supervisory Oversight and Framework on Remunerations

The BOD will follow regulatory guidelines on compensation and remuneration. The following are principles of QNB remuneration framework.

The GBNRGPC will review the way compensation is paid by looking at all possible components of compensation.

This policy will be aligned with the risk management framework of the bank, updated accordingly and reviewed on annual basis internally by the relevant stakeholders. The review shall include assessment on adequacy of the policy to be consistent and aligned with latest international best practices and publications such as Financial Stability Board, Basel Committee for Banking Supervision and QCB instructions and guidelines. The GBNRGPC will be responsible for the preparation of recommendations to the BOD regarding the remunerations of the BOD members, Executive Management and all other staff.

The GBNRGPC will ensure that the remuneration framework and principles in place are in line with the remuneration policy and the Board's guidelines taking into consideration the balancing between achieved and realized profits and risk associated with the business activities. The GBNRGPC will approve and review the Group's remuneration and incentives guidelines and ensure that the remunerations of the Board of Directors and Executive Management are in line with the criteria set forth by QCB/QFMA and Commercial Companies law. In all cases, BOD remuneration will be subject to the limits set forth by Commercial Companies Law provisions and QCB/QFMA instructions and limitations in this regards. GBNRGPC will ensure adoption of Basel guidelines and other international best practices while setting remuneration criteria in the Group. GBNRGPC will ensure that the remuneration of the BOD members should be approved by QCB before being approved by the shareholders in the Annual General Assembly of the bank and before the payment.

GBNRGPC will assess on an annual basis the adequacy and appropriateness of the remuneration policy including the remuneration plans, processes and outcomes. The GBNRGPC will have access to advice, either internal or external, that is independent of advice provided by executive management. The GBNRGPC may consider the findings while determining the aspects related to granting bonus and incentives in an objective and independent manner. The GBNRGPC will have unfettered access to information and analysis required to discharge its responsibilities from control functions (Risk, Financial Control, Compliance, Internal Audit). The GBNRGPC will review a number of possible scenarios to test how their remuneration system will react to future external and internal events. Remuneration of Independent functions, such as Internal Audit and Compliance, will be reviewed by Group Board Audit and Compliance Committee (GBACC) to ensure their performance assessment and remuneration is in line with the Group related policies, charters and practices.

#### Criteria for Directors & Executive Management Remuneration

The GBNRGPC will be in charge of all aspects linked to the remuneration of the Board members.

The basis of deciding the bonus and incentives of the members of the board of directors and executive management will be based on their performance evaluation in consistency with the bank's long-term performance not only over the current year period.

The basis of granting bonus and incentives will stand on objective performance assessment system, according to the financial and non-financial standards, such as those pertaining to operating systems, internal control, compliance with laws and regulatory instructions, environmental and social issues, and matters related to governance, financial inclusion, digital transformation and management of all types of risks when evaluating and measuring the performance of board members and executive management.

There will be a formal and transparent process for fixing the remuneration packages of non-executive directors. Levels of remuneration will be sufficient to attract, retain and motivate non-executive directors of the quality required to add value to the Group. Levels of remuneration for non-executive directors will reflect the time, commitment and responsibilities of the role, including involvement at BOD level committees.

Remuneration for independent directors will not include share options. The Board of Directors' remuneration will be treated as an operating expense.

#### **Regulatory Requirements**

In accordance with applicable laws and regulations, such as the Commercial Companies Law provisions, as well as the QCB circular related to 'the remuneration of the Board of Directors' Chairman and members' and QFMA requirements, this remuneration policy for the BOD is in line with the said regulations, whereby the Group's Articles of Association have established a framework for the Board Members' remuneration which is far below the limits referred to in the Commercial Companies Law. The General Assembly will approves the remuneration of the members of the Board of Directors within the limits stipulated by the regulators. The maximum limits for the BOD Chairman and BOD members would be aligned with the remuneration limits stipulated by QCB. In case the BOD member is a member of any BOD committee at the same time, he or she can be eligible for additional remuneration as decided by the Board in accordance with QCB guidelines. The Board members' yearly remuneration shall not exceed 5% of the Bank's net profit after deduction of reserves, legal deductions, and distribution of the dividends (in cash and in kind) to shareholders.

This policy will remain effective till any material change is needed due to change in regulatory guidance or any other need as deemed fit by the Board or management of the Group.

#### **Additional Controls**

Any reward or allowances received by the Board's Chairman or members during the year are to be deducted from the above mentioned remuneration limits. The remuneration shall be paid only in case the bank realises net profit after the deduction of reserves and distribution of a minimum 5% dividend to the shareholders.

The remuneration shall only be paid after obtaining the approval of QCB. The remuneration should be in line with Article no. 119 of the Commercial Companies Law no. 11/2015 requirements which stipulate that remuneration should not exceed 5% of the net income after legal reserves, approved deductions and dividends of at least 5% of the paid capital.

#### **Criteria for Employees Remuneration**

The remuneration for QNB Employees will be in line with the principles set out in this policy.

#### **Basis and Method**

The design and objective of the remuneration policy must take into consideration the bank's desire to attract, retain and reward employees with high level of technical knowledge, experience, skills and expertise. Contracts signed by employees shall have a legal basis to link their remuneration with the mechanism of performance evaluation.

Compensation outcomes will be symmetric with the risk outcomes and the overall performance of the bank including indicators of profitability, liquidity, capital adequacy and operational performance.

There will be no discrimination in bonus and incentives payment to employees based on any personal grounds outside the boundaries of this policy.

The following will be considered while setting the Goals & Objectives (G&O):

- All types of risks will be considered while deciding bonus and incentives for QNB as a whole so that total income or profit should not be the only parameter to measure the performance.
- There should be balance between profits and risk levels in the business activities which generate such profits.
- All types of risk are taken into account including risks, such as liquidity risk, reputation risk, burden on capital and complexity of risks of related activities, and whether they are difficult or easy to quantify.
- Staff will be required to complete their individual G&Os which will be assessed in line with the KPI's set by their business divisions which will be evaluated on a semi-annual basis. The results of which

will be used to calculate the total compensation for each employee after considering any negative factors.

• In order to achieve QNB's strategic Goals and Objectives (G&O); each division will set the short, medium and long team goals and objectives at both divisional and individual level of their employees and outline the Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) that helps in the proper assessment of their performance.

#### Payment of the Compensations and Remunerations

Employees' incentive payments will be linked to the contribution of the individual and business to such performance. Compensation pay-out schedule shall be sensitive to the time horizon of risks. Payments of remuneration will be in line with the regulatory requirements and will consider best practices and international standards.

#### Board of Directors and Executive Management members' remuneration

The remuneration system within the Group is a key component of the governance and incentive structure through which the Board and Executive Management promote good performance, convey acceptable risk-taking behaviour and reinforce the Bank's operating and risk culture. Consequently, a separate "QNB Group Remuneration Policy for Board, Executive Management and Employees" defines the mechanism whereby the remuneration is directly linked to the effort and performance at both department and employee levels including that of the Board. This includes the achievement of assigned goals and objectives in accordance with the profitability, risk assessment and the overall performance of the Group. This policy applies to the Chairman, Board members, Senior Executive Management and employees of QNB Group. The BOD adheres to regulatory guidelines and leading practices on compensation and remuneration. The Board, through its GBNRGPC (by delegation), is responsible for the overall oversight of management's implementation of the remuneration system for the entire Bank. The GBNRGPC regularly monitors and reviews outcomes to assess whether the Bank-wide remuneration system is creating the desired incentives for managing risk, capital and liquidity. The Board reviews the remuneration plans, processes and outcomes on an annual basis. The remuneration policy for QNB BOD members is duly acknowledged as being in accordance with QCB instructions and QFMA requirements.

The BOD presents at the annual general assembly meeting the remuneration/salaries, fees (if any), amounts received for technical or administrative work or other material advantages received for approval, in accordance with the Commercial Companies Law, QCB and QFMA instructions. QNB Group's adopted remuneration policy for the BOD is in line with applicable laws and regulations, such as the Commercial Companies Law provisions, as well as the QCB circular related to the remuneration of the Board of Directors' Chairman and members and QFMA requirements. The Group's Articles of Association have established a framework for the Board members' remuneration, which is far below the limits referred to in the Commercial Companies Law. For 2022, the total BOD remuneration proposed (inclusive of all fees and allowances) is QR16.94 million which is divided as follows: QR2 million for the Chairman, QR1.5 million for each member and additionally QR120,000 for each BOD member for the respective committees to which they belong. This remuneration is consistent with the provisions of Article 119 of Commercial Companies Law, Article 50 of QNB's Articles of Association and QCB circular 18/2014. Moreover, the remuneration amount is subject to approval by the QCB and 2023 General Assembly.

#### Remuneration awarded during the financial year: REM1

Rem	uneration Amount - QAR '000		Senior
			Management
1		Number of employees	8
2		Total fixed remuneration (3 + 5 + 7)	19,866
3		Of which: cash-based	19,866
4	Fixed Remuneration	Of which: deferred	-
5		Of which: shares or other share-linked instruments	-
6		Of which: deferred	-
7		Of which: other forms	-
8		Of which: deferred	-
9		Number of employees	8
10		Total variable remuneration (11 + 13 + 15)	29,600
11		Of which: cash-based	29,600
12	Variable Remuneration	Of which: deferred	-
13	variable Remuneration	Of which: shares or other share-linked instruments	-
14		Of which: deferred	
15		Of which: other forms	
16		Of which: deferred	-
17	Total Remuneration		49,466

# Special payments: REM2 Not applicable

## Deferred remuneration: REM3

Not applicable

## Asset encumbrance: DIS31

#### Asset encumbrance: ENC

	а	b	С	d	
QAR 'mn	Encumbered assets	[Optional]	Unencumbered assets	Total	
	Encumbered assets	Central bank facilities	Unencumbered assets	TOLAI	
Total Asset encumbrance	34,338	-	1,154,881	1,189,219	

#### Credit risk: DIS40

## General qualitative information about credit risk: CRA Credit Risk

QNB Group manages its credit risk exposure through diversification of its lending and financing, investments and capital markets activities to avoid undue concentrations of risk with individuals or groups of customers in specific locations or business lines. QNB Group also ensures that adequate collateral is obtained wherever possible, including cash, treasury bills, guarantees, bonds, mortgages over real estate properties and pledges over shares. QNB Group uses the same credit risk procedures when entering into derivative transactions as it does for traditional lending products. Formal sustainability requirements are integrated within the wholesale credit policy and the QNB Group has incorporated environmental, social and governance due diligence into the QNB Group's credit review practices.

QNB Group, acting through the Group Credit Committee, has implemented corporate credit approval processes governing all lending by the QNB Group. Management believes that the QNB Group's success in achieving low levels of non-performing loans has been due to the Group's strict adherence to this approval process. Before any credit exposure can be incurred by the QNB Group, the relationship manager for the respective customer must provide a credit application, in a prescribed format, to the Group Credit Risk Department, which will review, analyse and prepare an independent credit assessment and a recommendation for consideration by the Group Credit Committee. The credit presentation must include a detailed background on the borrower, including its intermediate and ultimate owners, sector, business operations, non-financial risks, historical financial statements, forward-looking financial information, the facility structure, relevant documentation and available collateral. Each credit application also includes a calculation of the RAROC at both facility and customer level and an obligor risk rating and facility risk rating in accordance with QNB Group's group-wide corporate risk rating policy.

QNB operates a highly centralised credit approval process with limited delegated authorities. Any credit approval which would lead to aggregate obligor group exposure for an amount over USD 19 million equivalent must be submitted to and approved by the Group Credit Committee. If the credit application is within the Group Credit Committee limits, being less than 5.5%. of the Group's eligible capital, the committee may approve the loan without further reference. Otherwise, the credit application is further submitted to the Group Board Executive Committee, with the Group Credit Committee's recommendation. The Group Board Executive Committee comprises three members of the Board of Directors and is chaired by the Vice-Chairman of the QNB Group. Any approval by the GBEC is then reported to the Board of Directors for their information.

QNB is active in the credit approval process of its subsidiaries, either through requiring submission of credit applications (after the initial approval by the subsidiary credit committee) to the QNB Group's Credit Division for a final decision or through QNB senior management representation on the subsidiary credit committee or supervisory board (through consultation). Credit Authorities delegated to subsidiary credit committees are set at levels determined by the obligor risk rating and tenor, with exclusions for certain sectors deemed high risk from time to time.

Any credit approval request recommended by a division for an amount below USD 19 million equivalent may be approved by "Group Credit", which has been delegated approval authority by the Group Credit Committee. Group Credit also has the authority to approve renewal of previously approved credit facilities with a credit rating of 6- or better, provided there has been no adverse change in the business and/or financial condition of the borrower, nor deterioration of the terms and conditions of the credit facility, including security and collateral and where there has been no more than a one-level adverse change in the credit rating.

In addition to the credit approval threshold levels described above, QNB Group has established elements of "approval philosophy" to govern the entire credit approval process. In order for each credit to be approved.

- The borrower's primary source of repayment must be from business cash flows and not from proceeds of the sale of any collateral or insurance policy (which are considered secondary sources of repayment);
- The borrower must provide complete, accurate and current financial information and, where appropriate, satisfactory collateral or security; and
- The transaction must not fall within the scope of activities that are against the QNB Group's policies.

#### Internal Risk Ratings and Related Credit Exposure

It is the QNB Group's policy to maintain accurate and consistent risk ratings across its credit portfolio. This facilitates focused management of the applicable risks and the comparison of credit exposures across all lines of business, geographic regions and products. The rating system is supported by a variety of financial analytics, combined with processed market information to provide the main inputs for the measurement of counterparty risk. All internal risk ratings are tailored to the various categories and are derived in accordance with the QNB Group's rating policy. The attributable risk ratings are assessed and updated regularly, and the system consists of a 10-scale credit rating system with positive and negative modifiers, giving a total scale range of 22 (compared to QCB's five-scale credit rating system), of which 19 (with positive and negative modifiers) relate to "performing", and three to "non-performing", as follows:

ORR	1 Yr PD	Minimum PD	Maximum PD	Equivalent Moody's Rating	Grades
1	0.01%	0.00%	0.01%	Aaa	
2+	0.02%	0.01%	0.02%	Aa1	]
2	0.02%	0.02%	0.03%	Aa2	
2-	0.04%	0.03%	0.05%	Aa3	
3+	0.06%	0.05%	0.07%	A1	Investment Grade
3	0.09%	0.07%	0.11%	A2	
3-	0.14%	0.11%	0.18%	A3	]
4+	0.22%	0.18%	0.27%	Baa1	
4	0.34%	0.27%	0.42%	Baa2	]
4-	0.53%	0.42%	0.66%	Baa3	
5+	0.82%	0.66%	1.03%	Ba1	
5	1.28%	1.03%	1.59%	Ba2	
5-	1.99%	1.59%	2.48%	Ba3	]
6+	3.09%	2.48%	3.85%	B1	Sub-Investment Grade
6	4.80%	3.85%	5.98%	B2	
6-	7.46%	5.98%	9.30%	B3	
7+	11.59%	9.30%	14.45%	Caa1	
7	18.02%	14.45%	22.46%	Caa2	- Watch List
7-	28.00%	22.46%	99.99%	Caa3 to C	
8	-	-	-	20% Specific Provision	
9	-	-	-	50% Specific Provision	Default Grade
10	-	-	-	100% Specific Provision	

#### Non-Performing Credit Facilities – Classification and Provisioning

QNB classifies problem loans as "Substandard" (8), "Doubtful" (9) and "Bad Debt" (10). The overall management of problem loans is the responsibility of the Remedial Department, which reports to the Group Chief Credit Officer. Interest payments in respect of problem loans are suspended automatically when the underlying loans have not been serviced for 90 days and, consequently, such loans are downgraded. If a borrower has more than one credit facility with the QNB Group, a downgrade of any single facility will lead to a full assessment of all outstanding credit with that borrower and will require the Remedial Department to recommend a plan of recovery.

The following are considered indications of non-performance under a credit facility:

• Failure to pay amounts due under the credit facility in full and on time and such payments remain outstanding for more than 90 days past due.

- Failure to pay amounts due in full and on time under other credit facilities that the Bank may have with the obligor
- The obligor has exceeded a credit limit by 10% or more with no agreement and with no acceptable explanation
- Where an obligor has defaulted on a facility with another financial institution and a cross-default clause may be invoked
- Where the customer enters in to a rescheduling agreement or analogous arrangement.

When QCB, or other competent regulator, requests that an asset be classified in one of the non-performing categories, including as a Special Mention asset then, as a matter of policy, the rating requested by the regulator shall be the one used by the Bank.

#### Restructuring of Credit facilities

In line with industry best practices and widely approved regulatory standards, QNB typically defines an existing obligor with a 90 Days Past Due instance over his credit commitments (and / or repayments) as in default. Besides, as cited in the Basel supervisory framework; if the bank considers that the obligor is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the bank in full, without recourse by the bank to actions such as liquidating collateral (if collateral is held) the obligor will be classified as default as well. Conditions describing unlikeliness to pay comprise a wide range of events including but not limited to cross-default, being classified as default in another financial institution, adverse market information etc. However, specific conditions of remedial cases, as defined under the Wholesale and Institutional Banking Credit Policy, apply for obligors in default, ORR 8, 9, and 10 must be used with due approvals from designated Credit Officers / Credit Committee.

The Policy recognises that supervisory rules relevant at local / jurisdictional level may be different from the 'standard' 90 days Past-Due definitions.

#### Restructuring: Asset modification due to commercial reasons

Loans modified purely because of non-stress reasons like retaining a reputed customer etc. are regarded as the commercially modified assets. The Bank does not incur material losses due to these kind of restructures. The losses due to these kind of restructures would be compensated for by future benefits. Some examples of Restructured cases where asset modification due to commercial reasons occurs are as follows:

- Any changes in interest rates including the changes done for strategic reasons
- Any payment holidays declared for particular groups due to strategic or at behest of regulator
- Any change to maturity that is initiated by the customer, who is in no financial difficulty, and the Bank is comfortable that even if the modification is not done, the client would be able to service the debt. Such assets that are modified due to commercial reasons can be treated as Stage 1 as there are no signs of significant increase of credit risk.

#### Credit Risk Reporting

The QNB Group has monitoring procedures put in place for all of its loans. These procedures include an annual (or more frequently on adverse developments) credit review by the Credit Department and monthly credit portfolio reporting. Any required change to a credit rating is performed immediately as deemed necessary. As part of the monitoring process, a reporting system is also in place that includes monthly Management Information System reports sent to the responsible heads of business sections along with monthly reporting to senior management at the QNB Group and periodic reporting to the QCB.

International branch portfolios and QNB subsidiary portfolios are closely monitored at a monthly meeting of QNB Senior Risk staff (including the QNB Group Chief Risk Officer), at which concentrations, rating migration, non-performing loans, restructurings and watch list trends are reviewed and action and/or direction is given as appropriate. Risk dashboards are maintained for each branch/entity.

#### Basel III – Pillar 3, December 2022

QNB uses staging rules to categorize each facility or customer on a monthly basis. Stage allocation is based on the qualitative, quantitative and back-stop criteria assessment. All performing facilities will be categorized as either Stage 1 or Stage 2 whereas non-performing facilities will be allocated to Stage 3. Annual Expected Credit Loss is calculated for Stage 1 facilities, whereas for Stage 2 and 3 facilities the Lifetime Expected Credit Loss (LECL) is used. Both annual and life time calculations takes into account three macroeconomic scenarios. Stage-3 loan loss provisions are made by the QNB Group, following an automatic suspension of interest after non-servicing of the debt for a period of 90 days to reflect the potential loss from the borrowing relationship as follows: for credit rated '8' a provision of 20% loss is applied; for credit rated '9' a provision of 50% loss is applied; and for credit rated '10' a provision of 100% loss is applied.

#### Additional disclosure related to the credit quality of assets: CRB

a) The scope and definitions of past due and impaired exposures used for accounting purposes and the differences, if any, between the definition of past due and default for accounting and regulatory purposes.

Common definitions are used for both accounting and regulatory purposes. Financing past due for less than 90 days is not treated as impaired, unless other available information proves otherwise. Neither past due nor impaired and past due but not impaired comprise the total performing financing.

b) The extent of past-due exposures (more than 90 days) that are not considered to be impaired and the reasons for this.

There are no such exposures. Bank considers the past due exposures for more than 90 days as impaired.

c) Description of methods used for determining impairments.

Financing past due for more than 90 days are treated as impaired. The Bank considers that the obligor is unlikely to pay its credit obligations in full, without recourse by the Bank to actions such as releasing collateral (if held).

d) The Bank's own definition of a restructured exposure.

A loan in respect of which the Bank, for economic or legal reasons related to the borrower's financial difficulties, grants a concession to the borrower that it would not otherwise consider.

Loans and advances	Total QAR '000
Qatar	639,623,226
Other GCC countries	12,463,220
Europe	91,345,762
North America	6,242,198
Others	57,926,930
Total	807,601,336

### Geographic analysis of credit quality assets: CRB

### Industry analysis of credit quality assets: CRB

Description	Total QAR '000
(01) Public Sector	308,688,005
Government	96,900,311
Government Institutions	211,787,694
(02) Private Sector	498,913,331
Industry	40,686,454
Commercial	119,665,941
Services	202,376,657
Contractors	9,883,467
Real Estate	62,495,383
Consumption	63,318,925
Other	486,504
Total	807,601,336

## Residual Maturity analysis of credit quality assets: CRB

Loans and advances	Total QAR '000
Within One month	99,494,241
1 - 3 Months	31,792,647
3 - 12 Months	97,468,393
1 - 5 Years	344,261,018
More than 5 Years	234,585,037
Total	807,601,336

QAR' 000	Exposures before CCF and CRM					
Industry Sector	Stage-1	Stage-2	Stage-3	Total gross amount	Impairment allowances	
Govt. & Govt. Agencies	305,578,484	3,274,914	-	308,853,398	165,393	
Industry	38,828,039	2,931,302	1,247,555	43,006,896	2,320,442	
Commercial	115,101,364	4,821,141	1,765,269	121,687,774	2,021,833	
Service	191,203,906	14,488,095	4,126,319	209,818,320	7,441,663	
Contracting	7,620,480	1,774,622	3,975,153	13,370,255	3,486,787	
Real Estate	46,006,841	15,077,180	7,514,287	68,598,308	6,102,925	
Consumption	59,206,169	7,080,678	4,867,779	71,154,626	7,835,701	
Others	523,438	273,865	183,751	981,054	494,551	
Total	764,068,721	49,721,797	23,680,113	837,470,631	29,869,295	

## Exposures by Industry and related ECL/Provision: CRB

## Exposures by Country and related ECL/Provision: CRB

QAR' 000	Exposure	s before CCF	and CRM		
Countries	Stage-1	Stage-2	Stage-3	Total Exposure	Total Allowance
Qatar	608,038,164	30,721,271	15,615,885	654,375,320	14,752,094
Other GCC	12,137,161	387,088	766,878	13,291,127	827,907
Europe	85,626,811	7,420,273	3,072,326	96,119,410	4,773,648
North America	6,245,329	-	-	6,245,329	3,131
Others	52,021,256	11,193,165	4,225,024	67,439,445	9,512,515
Total	764,068,721	49,721,797	23,680,113	837,470,631	29,869,295

## Ageing analysis of days for past due credit risk exposures: CRB

QAR '000	Past due credit risk exposures				
	<30 days 31-60 days 61-90 days Total				
Total past due credit risk exposures:	1,449,359	256,599	77,606	1,783,564	

#### Qualitative disclosure related to credit risk mitigation techniques: CRC

a) Core features of policies and processes for, and an indication of the extent to which the Bank makes use of, on- and off-balance sheet netting.

Not Applicable.

b) Core features of policies and processes for collateral evaluation and management.

The Bank, in the ordinary course of financing activities, holds collateral as security to mitigate credit risk in financing. Collaterals mostly include customer deposits and other cash deposits, highly rated sovereign securities issues in major currencies, financial guarantees, local and international equities listed in major indexes, real estate and other property and equipment. The collateral is held mainly against commercial and consumer financing and managed against relevant exposures related to financing. Enforceability, value and the volatility of the value of the asset, and the liquidity of the assets are the key considerations for the eligible collaterals. The fair value of collateral is based on valuation performed by the independent experts, quoted prices in regulated exchanges and the common valuation techniques. Valuation methods and valuation frequencies complies with relevant regulatory rules. Experts have used various approaches in determining the fair value of real estate collateral including market comparable approach based on recent actual sales or discounted cash flow approach taking into account risk adjusted discount rates, rental yields and terminal values.

c) Information about market or credit risk concentrations under the credit risk mitigation instruments used (i.e. by guarantor type, collateral and credit derivative providers).

It is essential to manage credit risk mitigation through the use of collateral, guarantees, credit structures and the protection of the Bank's position through proper use of the appropriate credit documentation; collateral, security and other support and legal documentation. Concentrations must be taken into account when accepting collateral or security assets which might be highly correlated to the exposure that it is securing. QNB aims to diversify security assets and achieve low Loan to Value thresholds which can help mitigating the risk of collateral value depreciation and provides cushion for adverse market conditions.

The Bank seeks to manage its credit risk exposure through diversification of its financing to ensure there is no undue concentration of risks to individuals or groups of customers in specific geographical locations or economic sectors, which is achieved through Risk Appetite thresholds, Target Market Criteria and Risk Acceptance Criteria.

#### **Credit Risk Mitigation**

The credit risk exposure in respect of a debtor, counterparty or other obligor is mitigated or reduced by taking various types of collateral. Every effort is made to ensure that any collateral provided by a potential client is perfected in accordance with local legal requirements before credit is provided against that collateral. Such collateral is also maintained in a secure format, and valuations are undertaken as required during the lifetime of the credit exposure.

QNB Group has historically implemented a conservative credit policy. The QNB Group believes that its conservative approach to lending ensures that there is an adequate spread of the risk through a diverse product range and customer base (by geography, industry and obligor type). The QNB Group also believes that its conservative credit policy promotes the application of effective credit risk limits in its business, while providing adequate returns on the risk that is on par with the management's expectations. The QNB Group's effective monitoring of its risk, together with a conservative internal risk rating system and a timely recovery strategy, further strengthens QNB Group's belief that it adequately meets and exceeds all regulatory limits and guidelines to which its business is subject.

# Qualitative disclosure on banks' use of external credit ratings under the standardised approach for credit risk: CRD

a) Names of the external credit assessment institutions (ECAIs) and export credit agencies (ECAs) used by the bank, and the reasons for any changes over the reporting period;

Moody's and other internationally reputed rating agencies

b) The asset classes for which each ECAI or ECA is used;

Externally rated corporates, banks and other institutions

c) A description of the process used to transfer the issuer to issue credit ratings onto comparable assets in the banking book

Not applicable

d) The alignment of the alphanumerical scale of each agency used with risk buckets (except where the relevant supervisor publishes a standard mapping with which the bank has to comply).

Refer to the QCB mapping table for rating equivalents presented under (DIS40-CRA) on page 26.

#### Credit quality of assets: CR1

QAR' 000		Gross carrying values of			Of which ECL/Spec provisions for cr on Standardised A exposu	Net values (a+b-c)	
		Defaulted Non- defa exposures exposur (a) (b)		Allowances/ Impairments - (c)	Allocated in regulatory category of Specific (d)	Allocated in regulatory category of General (e)	
1	Loans	23,680,113	813,790,518	29,869,295	29,869,295	-	807,601,336
2	Debt securities and Banks	149,457	328,675,149	439,969	439,969	-	328,384,637
3	Off-balance sheet exposures	720,353	198,805,863	681,575	681575	-	198,844,641
4	Total	24,549,923	1,341,271,530	30,990,839	30,990,839	-	1,334,830,614

#### Changes in the stock of defaulted Loans, Debt securities, Due from Banks and Other Assets: CR2

QAR' 000		Dec-22
1	Opening Balance as of 1 <sup>st</sup> January 2022	18,416,678
2	Loans and debt securities that have defaulted since the last reporting period	10,684,397
3	Returned to non-default status	(102,516)
4	Amounts written off	(4,430,149)
5	Other changes	(738,840)
6	Balance at the end of the reporting period (1+2-3-4-5)	23,829,570

#### Credit risk mitigation techniques - overview: CR3

QAR' 000	Exposures unsecured: carrying amount	Exposures secured by collateral	Exposures secured by collateral of which: secured amount	Exposures secured by financial guarantees	Exposures secured by financial guarantees, of which: secured amount	Exposures secured by credit derivatives	Exposures secured by credit derivatives, of which: secured amount
Loans	-	-	458,314,005	-	-	-	-
Debt securities	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Total	-	-	458,314,005	-	-	-	-
Of which defaulted	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

No significant changes over the reporting period and the key drivers of such changes.

## Standardised approach - credit risk exposure and CRM effects: CR4

QAR '000 Asset classes*	Exposures before CCF and CRM		Exposures post-CCF and CRM		RWA and RWA density	
	On-balance sheet	Off-balance sheet	On-balance sheet	Off-balance sheet	RWA	RWA density
Sovereigns and their central banks	277,278,994	29,333,161	250,877,819	12,064,311	36,493,870	13.9%
Public Sector Entities	198,455,941	5,962,864	4,191,944	1,260,564	4,847,441	88.9%
Multilateral development banks	-	-	-	-	-	-
Banks	97,260,705	19,619,683	97,260,696	13,829,915	26,230,247	23.6%
Securities firms	-	-	-	-	-	-
Corporates	459,276,073	85,140,240	226,562,916	44,170,814	265,262,896	98.0%
Regulatory retail portfolios	72,956,516	25,470,336	68,029,918	7,575,814	61,746,817	81.7%
Secured by residential property	-	-	-	-	-	-
Secured by commercial real estate	-	-	-	-	-	-
Equity Investment in Funds (EIF)	9,258,225	-	9,258,225	-	21,228,118	229.3%
Past-due loans	6,298,129	583,319	6,289,061	135,823	9,613,912	149.6%
Higher-risk categories	-	-	-	-	-	-
Other assets	47,909,039	406,470	40,216,898	7,895,376	36,888,176	76.7%
Total	1,168,693,622	166,516,073	702,687,477	86,932,617	462,311,477	58.5%
## Standardised approach - Exposures by asset classes and risk weights: CR5

Risk weight Asset Classes **	0%	20%	35%	50%	75%	100%	150%	Others	Total credit exposures amount (post CCF and post- CRM)
Sovereigns	226,100,018	-	-	696,483	-	36,145,629	-	-	262,942,130
PSEs	602,311	-	-	5,511	-	4,844,686	-	-	5,452,508
MDBs	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Banks	-	97,716,861	-	13,373,750	-	-	-	-	111,090,611
Securities	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-
Corporates	-	458,181	-	10,231,576	-	260,020,979	22,995	-	270,733,731
Retail	-	-	-	-	55,435,660	20,170,071	-	-	75,605,731
Residential property	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Commercial Real estate	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
EIFs	-	-	-	-	-	482,665	1,193,447	7,582,113	9,258,225
Past dues	-	-	-	23,195	-	435	6,401,253	-	6,424,883
Higher-risk	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Other assets	17,517,323	1,748,644	-	-	-	28,846,306	-	-	48,112,273
Total	244,219,652	99,923,686	-	24,330,515	55,435,660	350,510,771	7,617,695	7,582,113	789,620,092

## Market risk: DIS50

## General qualitative disclosure requirements related to market risk: MRA

#### Overview

Market risk is the risk to the change in QNB Group's earnings or capital due to changes in interest rates, foreign exchange rates, equity and bond security prices that generally arise as a result of the Bank's dayto-day business activities. The QNB Group's exposure to market risk arises due to positions held in both trading and banking books. Market risk is monitored using a range of metrics within tightly defined limits and within closely defined product mandates, reflecting QNB's conservative approach to market risk.

The management of market risks is defined by Board approved Group policies, where oversight of market risk is delegated by the Board to the Group ALCO, which in turn defines the limits and mandates to the First Line of Defense functions in the Group. Second line of Defense oversight is provided by the Group Strategic Risk Management team within Group Risk, which monitors all market risks within the Group ALCO-approved delegated authority limits and product mandates. Group Internal Audit acts as the third line of defense in this management process. The market risk limits are set at very conservative levels to reflect a limited appetite for this type of risk exposure.

#### **QNB Group's Exposures to Market Risk**

Market risk exposures primarily relate to interest rate risk in the banking book and FX risks that generally arise as a result of the Bank's day-to-day business activities. These risks are generated through the course of the Group's primary activity of making loans and investments funded via liabilities with different profiles – primarily with respect to interest rates and currency (FX). These mismatches between interest rate and currencies are the primary drivers of market risk for QNB. The majority of QNB's market risk is Interest Rate Risk in the Banking Book (IRRBB), which is considered specifically in Disclosure IRRBBA. The FX risk from the above activity results in most of the risk in the Trading Book.

FX and interest rate derivatives are used in both the Trading and Banking Book, primarily for the purposes of hedging to ensure that market risk remains within risk appetite and management limits. Derivatives are used to manage risk at a transaction or "back to back" level as well as to manage overall positions. The exposures to market risk are measured and monitored via a number of metrics against management limits and described in detail in the next section.

## Governance, Monitoring, Reporting and Limits Framework

The Board-approved Group Trading Book, Non-Traded Market Risk and Investment Policies collectively define the requirements for the management of the different sources of market risk across the Group. Under policy, the management of market risk is delegated by the Board of Directors to the Group ALCO. The first line of Defense functions, such as Group Treasury, are responsible for the day to day management of these risks and ensuring that QNB operates within its management limits, product mandates and overall Risk Appetite.

The independent Second Line of Defense monitoring and reporting of market risk exposures against management limits is performed by the Strategic Risk Management team within Group Risk. Exposures against limits are reported to Management in the first line of defense and Group ALCO. Compliance with Group and Board level limits is also independently reported to the GMRC and GBRC. Group Internal Audit, as part of its role as the third line of defense, undertake routine reviews of the first and second line of defense functions.

The GBRC defines the overall market risk appetite in terms of acceptable activity and maximum limits. QNB has a conservative appetite towards market risk. The Group ALCO define business and entity level limits and the Group product mandate. These limits are in turn cascaded to more granular areas of business activity, international branches, etc.

## Basel III – Pillar 3, December 2022

The QNB Group applies standard and internal methodologies to measure the market risk on positions in both the trading and banking books and potential for market related, portfolio level losses. QNB has defined limits on the level of market risk that may be accepted. These include but are not limited to:

- Basis point value of interest rate positions (overall and bucketed).
- Net and gross currency open positions.
- Value at Risk (VaR) measured based on a 99% confidence interval and 1 day holding period.
- Daily and monthly stop loss limits.
- Concentration and other position exposures.

Limits are monitored by Strategic Risk Management on a daily basis with results reported to First line of defense and Executive Management. Any breaches of Group ALCO or Board limits are immediately escalated to relevant Executive stakeholders.

In addition, the above metrics are supplemented with regular stress testing analysis based upon a range of historical and hypothetical severe but plausible events, as well as "forward looking" ad-hoc scenario analysis to assess the potential impacts of evolving market issues.

Periodic reports are provided to the Board of Directors, Group ALCO and GMRC summarizing key exposure measurements versus limits as well as summaries and recommendations with respect to new and emerging risks.

# Market risk under the standardised approach: MR1

QA	R' 000	Dec-22	Dec-21
		Capital requirement in standardised approach	Capital requirement in standardised approach
1	General interest rate risk	2,632,621	2,582,143
2	Equity risk	-	-
3	Commodity risk	-	-
4	Foreign exchange risk	5,494,904	6,245,615
5	Credit spread risk – non-securitisations	-	-
6	Credit spread risk – securitisations (non-correlation trading portfolio)	-	-
7	Credit spread risk – securitisation (correlation trading portfolio)	-	-
8	Default risk – non-securitisations	-	-
9	Default risk – securitisations (non-correlation trading portfolio)	-	-
10	Default risk – securitisations (correlation trading portfolio)	-	-
11	Options	-	-
	Simplified Approach	-	-
	Delta Plus Method	-	-
11	Residual risk add-on	-	-
12	Total	8,127,525	8,827,758

## Operational risk: DIS60

## General qualitative information on a bank's operational risk framework: ORA

Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss due to an event or action causing failure of technology, process, infrastructure, personnel and other risks having an operational risk impact. The QNB Group seeks to minimise actual or potential losses from operational risk failure through implementing a framework of policies and procedures that aim to identify, assess, control, manage and report those risks.

The QNB Group Operational Risk Framework is comprised of 8 interconnected elements.

(i) Policy & Governance, (ii) Risk Appetite & KRI's, (iii) Risk and Control Self-Assessment (RCSA), (iv) Operational Risk Response, (v) Control Assurance Framework (Non-ICOFR), (vi) Event Loss Data Management (ELDM), (vii) Operational Resiliency (with dedicated sub-elements on Business Continuity Management, Third Party Risk Management and Technology Risk Management), and (viii) Risk Reporting and Analysis.

Each of the main and sub-elements are documented and maintained by the Group Operational Risk Department. Governance of Operational Risk Management in QNB is structured as follows:

- Group Board Risk Committee (GBRC) Sets and approves Group wide Risk Policies including the QNB Group Operational Risk Policy
- Group Management Risk Committee (GMRC) Responsible for oversight and review of all risk functions including the Operational Risk Framework
- Group Operational Risk Management Committee (GORMC) Mandated by GMRC, this is a dedicated committee to provide operational risk oversight and review at a Group Level, domestically and internationally chaired by the Group Chief Risk Officer (GCRO)
- Group Operational Risk Department (GORD) GORD is situated at Group level and reports into the GCRO.

GORD is responsible for the development and implementation of the ORM Framework in QNB Group.

- QNB Group's ORM structure is based on the three lines of defence (LoD) model, which has been designed to effectively manage operational risk. For the purpose of this document the focus is on the first and second lines of defence.
- Group Operational Risk Department (GORD / 2<sup>nd</sup> LoD) Responsible for creation, development and on-going maintenance of operational risk tools. GORD is also responsible for providing training and guidance on how to implement the defined operational risk methodology.
- Business/Division (1<sup>st</sup> LoD) includes all QNB's Businesses/Divisions and staff, each one directly
  responsible for controlling and minimizing the operational risk within their business activities in
  compliance with QNB policies and procedures.

The Bank requires accurate knowledge of operational risk related losses and has therefore established an appropriate event escalation process, known as the QNB Notifiable Event Process (QNEP) which forms part of the ELDM element of the Operational Risk Framework. Loss events are identified, recorded and classified according to the Bank's Impact Classification Matrix, causal categories and Risk Taxonomy. QNB has invested in risk management software to support its operational risk management policy and framework by keeping track of operational risk event information and loss data.

Dedicated operational risk reports are developed for review and oversight within the GORMC, GMRC and GBRC. Among other content, these reports include the bank's operational risk profile including individual and aggregated risks, events, losses and the status of risk mitigating actions. In additional to reports that are presented to Governance Committees, GORD compiles and distributes various Management Reports to a broad audience across the bank at various frequencies.

#### Basel III – Pillar 3, December 2022

QNB proactively manages the operational risks faced by the bank and aim to ensure that an appropriate control environment is maintained. This means the Bank must understand and report on residual risk exposures and ensure appropriate operational risk responses are in place to mitigate or transfer any risks which are not accepted.

- Risk Mitigating Actions (RMA) aims to resolve control gaps or weaknesses and reduce risk exposures that have not been accepted. This process includes the identification, capture, ownership, closure and reporting of RMAs. RMAs are part of the interconnected operational risk framework and anything that results in the reassessment of a risk could lead to a requirement to create an RMA. In addition to RMA's resulting directly from the RCSA process, it is also possible they will result from reassessment of risk as a result of triggers such as Operational Risk events. RMA's are recorded in the Operational Risk Management System.
- Exceptions to Policy (ETP) are raised where a decision is made not to implement or fully implement a mandatory control as defined within a QNB Policy, Procedure, Framework or against industry best practice. Such ETPs represent accepted risks and are recorded for all the Business / Functions in the Operational Risk Management System.
- As a means to supplement risk mitigation and acceptance decisions, QNB utilises Operational Risk related Insurance Policies to transfer operational risk losses in part or in full. QNB currently has the following insurance policies in place: (i) Bankers Blanket Bond (BBB) Policy, (ii) Property All Risk (PAR) Policy, (iii) Electronic Equipment (EE) Policy, (iv) Third Party Liability (TPL) Policy, (v) Cyber Liability (CL) Policy

## Interest rate risk in the banking book: DIS70

## IRRBB risk management objectives and policies: IRRBBA

## IRRBBA - Interest rate risk in the banking book (IRRBB) risk management objective and policies

a) A description of how the bank defines IRRBB/PRRBB for purposes of risk control and measurement.

Interest Rate Risk in the Banking Book (IRRBB) refers to the risk to QNB Group's capital and earnings arising from the adverse movements in interest rates on its banking book. When interest rates change, the present value and timing of future cash flows change, impacting upon the economic value of QNB's balance sheet. Changes in interest rates affect QNB Group's earnings by altering interest rate-sensitive income and costs, impacting its Net Interest Income (NII). In general, the sources of Interest Rate Risk can include gap risk, yield curve risk, basis risk and option risk.

b) A description of the bank's overall IRRBB/PRRBB management and mitigation strategies. Monitoring of EVE and NII in relation to established limits, hedging practices, conduct of stress testing, outcomes analysis, the role of independent audit, the role and practices of the Group ALCO, the bank's practices to ensure appropriate model validation, and timely updates in response to changing market conditions.

The Board believes that effective IRRBB management is an essential component of safe and sound banking practices and has a direct impact on the QNB Group's earnings and equity. The QNB Board is ultimately responsible for the Risk management of the Group through provision of overall strategy and oversight. Specifically, the Group operates under its Board approved Non-Traded Market Risk Policy, which covers the management of IRRBB. It also sets the overall Risk Appetite for QNB. QNB Board policy is executed via delegated authority to the Group Management Committees, which includes the GALCO and GMRC. These Committees are responsible for the setting, approval and implementation of limits that are within their Board-approved authority. They are also responsible for ensuring that appropriate processes and controls are in place so that all risks are identified, measured and reported against approved risk limits as well as to authorize appropriate action (as required) if there is a limit breach. These Committees also delegate operational mandates and authorities to individual business and functional unit managers.

## **IRRBB Limit Framework**

The Group Risk Division is responsible for the oversight of the risk process. This includes ensuring that appropriate risk limits are set (consistent with Risk Appetite), managing a robust risk control and reporting process, and the escalation of risk limit breaches. The aggregated risk limits across the QNB Group are aligned and consistent with the overall Group Risk IRRBB limit framework. Board approved limits are cascaded to GALCO and then throughout the organization via the various ALCOs and management committees across the Group. Both economic value and earnings based measurements are used to measure IRRBB and monitor this risk against limits. This includes Board limits for sensitivity to earnings (EaR – Earnings at Risk) and economic value impacts upon the balance sheet (EVE – Economic Value of Equity). To provide a consistent Group wide measurement basis, these limits are defined based upon the standardized stress scenarios consistent with the guidelines set by the QCB. These measurements and limits are further supported with additional GALCO level operational limits, such as PV01 ladder limits, with standard measurements regularly monitored and reported to GALCO on a monthly basis. These Group wide standard metrics are complemented with entity and location specific stress testing and other measurements (as appropriate) at intermediate or sub-consolidation and branch levels.

## **Governance, Oversight and Controls**

QNB Group operates a "Three Lines of Defense" model with respect to the management and governance of risk and the segregation of duties with respect to responsibilities, governance and controls. This includes management and controls around IRRBB. The GALCO oversees the management of IRRBB at a QNB Group level, with international ALCOs and management committees overseeing the management at each location. The Business units and Treasury are the first line functions responsible for the management of the risk, whilst the Risk and Financial control units are the second line. The independent Internal Audit function, as the third line function, undertakes regular audits and reviews of the management and controls processes.

The Non Traded Market Risk Policy sets out the guidelines for the governance and management of interest rate risk in the Banking Book.

## Risk mitigation and hedging practices

The objective of managing IRRBB is to manage the exposure to interest rate risk in the Banking Book within acceptable limits using approved products within the mandates available to the first line functions. Where possible, risks are managed via the on balance sheet matching of assets and liabilities and the central aggregation of risk. However, Treasury can also hedge specific transactions and residual exposures through the use of derivatives. Significant hedging or risk management initiatives are approved by GALCO.

c) The periodicity of the calculation of the bank's IRRBB/PRRBB measures, and a description of the specific measures that the bank uses to gauge its sensitivity to IRRBB/PRRBB.

QNB regularly monitors the evolution of IRRBB at an operational level. The key standard measurements used across the Group are:

- EVE based on predefined standardized shocks
- Sensitivity to Net Interest Income (NII) over a 12-month horizon and based on predefined shocks calibrated for significant currencies
- Re-pricing GAP reports (measured against PV01 ladder limits)
- Credit Spread Risk in Banking Books (CSRBB) sensitivities

Daily controls are operated to monitor daily movements in the IRRBB profile. Additional metrics, such as hedging ratio, effective duration of equity or local regulatory measurements are also used at an entity level to supplement the common Group wide measurements.

The calculation of the Group's IRRBB measurements are reported on a monthly basis to the GALCO. The impact of interest rates shocks is also factored as part of the Bank's formal Stress Tests and within ICAAP and the results are presented to senior management.

d) A description of the interest/profit rate shock and stress scenarios that the bank uses to estimate changes in the economic value and in earnings.

The prescribed QCB standardized interest rate shock scenarios are used in line with the QCB guidelines. As part of a broader stress-testing framework, additional stress scenarios based upon historical market events and severe but plausible hypothetical scenarios are also undertaken. As required, scenarios are also developed to assess potential impacts of emerging risks.

e) Where significant modelling assumptions used in the bank's internal system (i.e. the EVE metric generated by the bank for purposes other than disclosure, e.g. for internal assessment of capital adequacy) are different from the modelling assumptions prescribed for the disclosure in the table below, the bank should provide a description of those assumptions and of their directional implications and explain its rationale for making those assumptions (e.g. historical data, published research, management judgment and analysis).

QNB applies the QCB standardized scenarios in a manner consistent with the requirements defined in the QCB guidelines. These scenarios are viewed by QNB as consisting of very extreme shocks and used as the basis of assessing Pillar 2 capital requirements as directed under the QCB guidelines. Additional stress testing undertaken by QNB consists of less extreme, severe but plausible scenarios.

f) A high-level description of how the bank hedges its IRRBB/PRRBB, as well as the associated accounting treatment.

QNB IRRBB exposures are managed by the Treasury function. Where appropriate, exposures are centralized for management by Group Treasury. Where possible, risks are managed via the on balance

sheet matching of assets and liabilities and the central aggregation of risk. However, Treasury will also hedge specific transactions through the use of derivatives.

Most derivatives residing in the banking book are in the form of Interest Rate or Cross Currency Swaps which qualify for Cash Flow Hedge accounting treatment. A high-level description of key modelling and parametric assumptions used in calculating  $\Delta$ EVE and  $\Delta$ NII.

- g) A high-level description of key modelling and parametric assumptions used in calculating ΔEVE and ΔNII in the table below, which includes:
  - For ΔEVE, whether commercial margins and other spread components have been included in the cash flows used in the computation and discount rate used.
  - How the average repricing maturity of non-maturity deposits has been determined (including any unique product characteristics that affect assessment of repricing behavior).
  - The methodology used to estimate the prepayment rates of customer loans, and/or the early withdrawal rates for time deposits, and other significant assumptions.

Any other assumptions (including for instruments with behavioral optionalities that have been excluded) that have a material impact on the disclosed  $\Delta$ EVE and  $\Delta$ NII in the table below, including an explanation of why these are material.

The approach to modelling assumptions for the purposes of evaluating  $\Delta$ EVE and  $\Delta$ NII is consistent with the guidelines set out by the QCB. These relate mainly to the treatment of non-maturing deposits and assets where the use of historical data is used to model key homogenous cohorts to arrive at a sensitivity to key macro factors, stable/non-stable segments and effective duration. With respect to early redemptions of deposits and prepayment of loans, when applicable, the speed is determined based on historical behaviors and sensitivities to key macro factors. Other assumptions based on specific product characteristics, such as optionality are taken into consideration as part of the evaluation process.

Commercial margins and other spread components have been excluded in the cash flows used in the computation. The discount rates used are from observed market Cash and Interest Rate Swap rates for each material currency

## Quantitative disclosures

- 1. Average repricing maturity assigned to NMDs 1.3 Years
- 2. Longest repricing maturity assigned to NMDs. 10.0 Years

## Quantitative information on IRRBB: IRRBB1

QAR '000					
In reporting currency	ΔΕνε		ΔΝΡΙ		
Period	Dec-22	Dec-21	Dec-22	Dec-21	
Parallel up	(1,852,947)	(2,034,850)	(895,290)	(601,064)	
Parallel down	(2,940,554)	(1,996,754)	(2,955,040)	(1,983,051)	
Steepener	(215,618)	(669,421)			
Flattener	(421,822)	(760,472)			
Short rate up	(795,792)	(944,027)			
Short rate down	(486,153)	(282,153)			
Maximum	(2,940,554)	(2,034,850)	(2,955,040)	(1,983,051)	
Period	Dec-2	2	Dec-21		
Tier 1 capital*	95,568,	564	90,903,712		

\*Figures are net of dividend. CET1 in the published financials are reported gross of dividend.

## Leverage ratio: DIS80

## Leverage ratio common disclosure: LR2

QAR '000				
On-balance shee	et exposures	Dec-22	Jun-22	Dec-21
1	On-balance sheet exposures (excluding derivatives and securities financing transactions (SFTs), but including collateral)	1,145,613,184	1,071,324,778	1,042,013,582
2	(Asset amounts deducted in determining Basel III Tier 1 capital)	(4,437,445)	(6,123,255)	(3,485,518)
3	<b>Total on-balance sheet exposures</b> (excluding derivatives and SFTs) (sum of rows 1 and 2)	1,141,175,739	1,065,201,523	1,038,528,064
Derivative expos	sures			
4	Replacement cost associated with all derivatives transactions (where applicable net of eligible cash variation margin and/or with bilateral netting)	8,933,539	5,630,469	9,353,535
5	Add-on amounts for potential future exposure (PFE) associated with all derivatives transactions	3,973,969	1,661,837	3,704,450
6	Gross-up for derivatives collateral provided where deducted from the balance sheet assets pursuant to the operative accounting framework	-	-	-
7	(Deductions of receivables assets for cash variation margin provided in derivatives transactions)	-	-	-
8	(Exempted central counterparty, or CCP, leg of client-cleared trade exposures)	-	-	-
9	Adjusted effective notional amount of written credit derivatives	-	-	-
10	(Adjusted effective notional offsets and add-on deductions for written credit derivatives)	-	-	-
11	Total derivative exposures (sum of rows 4 to 10)	12,907,508	7,292,306	13,057,985
Securities finance	cing transaction exposures	ſ	ſ	
12	Gross SFT assets (with no recognition of netting), after adjusting for sale accounting transactions	25,800,183	27,505,290	27,143,615
13	(Netted amounts of cash payables and cash receivables of gross SFT assets)	-	-	-
14	Counterparty credit risk exposure for SFT assets	-	-	-
15	Agent transaction exposures	-	-	-
16	Total securities financing transaction exposures (sum of rows 12 to 15)	25,800,183	27,505,290	27,143,615
	e sheet exposures	1	1	
17	Off-balance sheet exposure at gross notional amount	166,516,073	169,160,588	168,628,008
18	(Adjustments for conversion to credit equivalent amounts)	(87,275,597)	(92,274,928)	(93,376,535)
19	Off-balance sheet items (sum of rows 17 and 18)	79,240,476	76,885,660	75,251,473
Capital and total	exposures			
20	Tier 1 capital	95,568,564	88,922,522	90,903,712
21	Total exposures (sum of rows 3, 11, 16 and 19)	1,259,123,906	1,176,884,780	1,153,981,137
Leverage ratio				
22	Basel III leverage ratio	7.6%	7.6%	7.9%

## Liquidity: DIS85

## Liquidity risk management: LIQA

a) Governance of liquidity risk management, including: risk tolerance; structure and responsibilities for liquidity risk management; internal liquidity reporting; and communication of liquidity risk strategy, policies and practices across business lines and with the board of directors.

Liquidity risk is the risk that an institution is unable to meet its funding obligations as they fall due, leading to an inability to support normal business activity or to incur unacceptable costs. QNB considers the prudent management of liquidity essential to ensuring a sustainable and profitable business and retaining the confidence of the financial markets. The Group Board has overall responsibility for ensuring that liquidity risk is appropriately managed. These expectations, including the delegation of roles and responsibilities is covered in the Group Liquidity Risk Management Policy. Board liquidity tolerance is defined within the Group Statement of Risk Appetite. The GALCO has delegated responsibility for overseeing Group Treasury practices to ensure that liquidity risk is prudently managed globally across the Business.

b) Funding strategy, including policies on diversification in the sources and tenor of funding, and whether the funding strategy is centralised or decentralised.

QNB operates a funding strategy to meet the objectives of the Group Liquidity Risk Policy and Statement of Risk Appetite whilst meeting the requirements for current and projected budget and regulatory requirements. Treasury actively manages a diversified funding structure by sourcing funding across a range of tenors, product types, geographies, currencies, counterparty and customer types. This approach enables the Bank to maintain overall funding levels through a range of operating conditions. International entities are expected to operate on a basis of being self-sufficient on meeting their funding needs, although these operations are closely coordinated under Group Treasury to ensure alignment with the wider Group funding strategy.

c) Liquidity risk mitigation techniques.

Liquidity risk is actively managed to forecast requirements to meet its obligations under normal and stressed conditions. Risks are mitigated via its diversified funding strategy to meet obligations under most expected scenarios, along with the maintenance of a buffer of High Quality Liquid Assets (HQLA) and other readily marketable securities that can be drawn upon to manage requirements during stress conditions.

d) An explanation of how stress testing is used.

Liquidity risk can materialise as a result of firm-specific, industry-wide and market-wide liquidity events which may lead to cash outflows and may disrupt the availability of existing sources of funding. Stress testing of the potential events enables QNB to identify key risk drivers, as well as provide an indication of the performance of liquid asset buffers held to help mitigate risks. To supplement stress testing analysis, QNB also monitors a series of Early Warning Indicators (EWIs), to assist with the timely identification of potential emerging conditions of funding stress.

e) An outline of the bank's contingency funding plans.

QNB Group also maintains a Contingency Funding Plan that details its plan of action in emergency and stress situations. The plan defines the roles and responsibilities, procedures and immediate actions that would be taken in response to a stress event, to ensure that QNB continues to meet its obligations. Customised measurement tools or metrics that assess the structure of the bank's balance sheet or that project cash flows and future liquidity positions, taking into account off-balance sheet risks which are specific to that bank. In addition to regulatory liquidity metrics, QNB monitors a number of internal metrics as part of a broader liquidity Key Risk Indicator (KRI) framework. These metrics include maturity mismatch projections, measurements of areas of key concentrations by counterparty type, geography, product type, etc.

f) Customised measurement tools or metrics that assess the structure of the bank's balance sheet or that project cash flows and future liquidity positions, taking into account off-balance sheet risks which are specific to that bank.

Liquidity assumptions are reviewed effectively & efficiently and approved by ALCO for the aim of effective monitoring of liquidity issues.

g) Concentration limits on collateral pools and sources of funding (both products and counterparties).

QNB monitors and complies with all regulatory requirements and a part of its broader Key Risk Indicator (KRI) framework monitors concentration levels of different funding sources, such as counterparty, geography, product type, tenor, etc.

h) Liquidity exposures and funding needs at the level of individual legal entities, foreign branches and subsidiaries, taking into account legal, regulatory and operational limitations on the transferability of liquidity.

International entities are expected to operate on a self-sufficient basis to meet their own funding needs. This also includes managing compliance with any local regulatory liquidity requirements and limits. Each entity is responsible for monitoring its own risks and reporting its position to local senior management and Group Management via its local ALCO, which also provides a mechanism for escalating liquidity and funding risks to Head Office functions, including Group Treasury and GALCO.

i) Balance sheet and off-balance sheet items broken down into maturity buckets and the resultant liquidity gaps.

Please refer to published consolidated financial statements.

# Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR): LIQ1

QAR '000		Total unweighted value	Total weighted value	Total unweighted value	Total weighted value
	High-quality liquid assets	(average) Dec	(average)	(average) Dec	(average)
1	Total HQLA	163,593,222	159,471,322	141,058,916	
Cash outflows		103,593,222 T	159,471,522 <b>T</b>	141,056,916 <b>T-1</b>	137,087,831 <b>T-1</b>
2	Retail deposits and deposits from small business customers, of which:	140,247,157	21,740,429	131,649,398	10,277,037
3	Stable deposits	140,247,157	21,740,429	131,049,390	10,277,037
-	Less stable deposits	-	-	-	-
4		140,247,157	21,740,429	131,649,398	10,277,037
5	Unsecured wholesale funding, of which:	319,264,796	209,278,884	265,013,788	135,104,029
6	Operational deposits (all counterparties) and deposits in networks of cooperative banks	84,484,050	84,484,050	61,687,508	61,687,508
7	Non-operational deposits (all counterparties)	13,047,661	1,200,568	26,144,158	2,543,672
8	Unsecured debt	221,733,085	123,594,266	177,182,122	70,872,849
9	Secured wholesale funding	-	-	-	-
10	Additional requirements, of which:	9,511,986	9,511,986	7,007,320	7,007,320
11	Outflows related to derivative exposures and other collateral requirements	201,910	201,910	1,974,611	1,974,611
12	Outflows related to loss of funding of debt products	9,310,076	9,310,076	5,032,709	5,032,709
13	Credit and liquidity facilities	-	-	-	-
14	Other contractual funding obligations	-	-	-	-
15	Other contingent funding obligations	67,705,316	13,274,926	69,092,574	15,426,249
16	TOTAL CASH OUTFLOWS	536,729,254	253,806,225	472,763,080	167,814,635
Cash inflows					
17	Secured lending (eg reverse repo)	-	-	-	-
18	Inflows from fully performing exposures	109,918,395	97,547,280	83,037,463	70,311,282
19	Other cash inflows	3,434,257	3,434,257	4,079,333	4,079,333
20	TOTAL CASH INFLOWS	113,352,652	100,981,537	87,116,796	74,390,615
Total adjusted value					
21	Total HQLA	-	159,471,322	-	137,087,831
22	Total net cash outflows	-	152,824,688	-	93,424,020
23	Liquidity coverage ratio (%)	-	104.3%	-	146.7%

# Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR): LIQ2

QAR' 0000		Unweighted value by residual maturity				Weighted	Weighted
		No maturity	<6 months	6 months to <1 year	≥1 year	value Dec-2022	value Dec-2021
Ava	ilable stable funding (ASF) item			-		Т	T-1
1	Capital:	107,323,190	-	-	-	107,323,190	99,780,476
2	Regulatory capital	79,938,468	-	-	-	79,938,468	74,310,566
3	Other capital instruments	27,384,722	-	-	-	27,384,722	25,469,910
4	Retail deposits and deposits from small business customers:	72,229,863	43,752,103	12,283,704	11,981,487	87,847,928	105,637,032
5	Stable deposits	-	-	-	-	-	-
6	Less stable deposits	72,229,863	43,752,103	12,283,704	11,981,487	87,847,928	105,637,032
7	Wholesale funding:	111,049,844	241,060,648	114,016,772	299,285,487	457,534,969	562,766,104
8	Operational deposits	-				-	-
9	Other wholesale funding	111,049,844	241,060,648	114,016,772	299,285,487	457,534,969	562,766,104
10	Liabilities with matching interdependent assets	-	-	-	-	-	-
11	Other liabilities:	175,443,919	-	-	-	-	-
12	NSFR derivative liabilities	-	-	-	-	-	-
13	All other liabilities and equity not included in the above categories	175,443,919	-	-	-	-	-
14	Total ASF	466,046,816	284,812,751	126,300,476	311,266,974	652,706,087	768,183,611
Req	uired stable funding (RSF) item						, ,
15	Total NSFR high-quality liquid assets (HQLA)	84,366,712	27,121,520	12,538,205	39,082,357	-	-
16	Deposits held at other financial institutions for operational purposes	-	-	-	-	-	-
17	Performing loans and securities:	81,983,739	97,592,333	199,870,117	663,943,257	592,938,176	653,635,634
18	Performing loans to financial institutions secured by Level 1 HQLA	80,423,170	-	-	-	4,021,159	3,188,560
40	Performing loans to financial institutions secured by non-Level 1 HQLA and		004.000				
19	unsecured performing loans to financial institutions	1,560,569	294,306	-	-	824,431	588,551
20	Performing loans to non-financial corporate clients, loans to retail and small			400 070 447	0.17 000 107	574 500 000	
	business customers, and loans to sovereigns, central banks and PSEs, of which:	-	97,298,027	199,870,117	647,389,497	571,538,826	632,663,500
04	With a risk weight of less than or equal to 35% under the Basel II standardised				400 000 047	202 424 020	
21	approach for credit risk	-	-	-	466,360,047	303,134,030	-
22	Performing residential mortgages, of which:	-	-	-	-	-	-
23	With a risk weight of less than or equal to 35% under the Basel II standardised						
23	approach for credit risk	-	-	-	-	-	-
24	Securities that are not in default and do not qualify as HQLA, including exchange-		_	_	40 550 700	40 552 700	47 405 000
	traded equities	-	-	-	16,553,760	16,553,760	17,195,023
25	Assets with matching interdependent liabilities						
26	Other assets:	69,256,154	-	-	-	69,256,154	63,887,382
27	Physical traded commodities, including gold						
20	Assets posted as initial margin for derivative contracts and contributions to						
28	default funds of CCPs	-	-	-	-	-	-
29	NSFR derivative assets	-	-	-	-	-	-
30	NSFR derivative liabilities before deduction of variation margin posted	1,211,017	-	-	-	1,211,017	62,761,199
31	All other assets not included in the above categories	68,045,137	-	-	-	68,045,137	1,126,184
32	Off-balance sheet items	-	-	-	-	18,380,699	20,508,949
33	Total RSF	235,606,605	124,713,853	212,408,322	703,025,614	680,575,029	738,031,965
34	Net Stable Funding Ratio (%)	-	-	-	-	95.9%	104.1%